Annual Report for Year Ended December 31, 2014

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Audited Financial Statements

< Intentionally Blank >

Letter to Shareholders
Dear Shareholder,
I am pleased to advise you that Polaris continued to make solid progress during 2014 and achieved a new
sales record of 3.43 million tons. The Company’s principal market is San Francisco Bay in northern
California where building and construction activity was especially strong, particularly in the City of San
Francisco and the ‘Silicon Valley’ corridor, driven by major public and private sector projects.
The highlights of the year were:


Sales of 3.43 million tons;



Financial operating metrics improved and margin expansion led to a gross profit of $1.2
million (2013 - $24,000);



The Company commenced development of its leasehold terminal site in the Port of Long
Beach, California, in the second half of the year;



A potential opportunity to develop a limestone coarse aggregate resource close to the Orca
sand and gravel operation was identified and preliminary scoping studies commenced;



The Company completed an equity financing in June and ended the year with a strong
balance sheet.



The Company won the 2014 B.C. Export Award, Natural Resources Category;

During the year we had to contend with an unexpected reduction in the depth of the access channel into
Redwood City which led to increased shipping costs. Fortunately, the Army Corps of Engineers was able
to start dredging the channel during the fourth quarter and, by yearend, had made substantial progress with
final completion scheduled for mid-year, 2015.
We are anticipating a further increase in demand for our high quality sand and gravel aggregate from
established markets in 2015. The prime focus for management is on increasing prices and improving the
efficiency of distribution to the terminals. The Company’s Long Beach terminal site is a unique asset in this
major port complex that will enable the Company to enter the greater Los Angeles market where the
Company is operating independently. Construction activity is accelerating in southern California and our
marketing is focused on local ready-mixed concrete companies, architects and consulting engineers who
can incorporate the engineering qualities of the Orca products into cost-effective structural designs.
The Company continues to support the efforts of the National Stone and Sand and Gravel Association, the
industry trade association, as it presses Congress to authorize a new, multi-year, Surface Transportation
and Highway Funding Bill, which is essential to secure long-term and stable funding with which to repair
and improve this vitally important component of the economy.
The Board wishes to thank shareholders for their continuing support as we look forward to 2015 with
confidence.

Herbert G. A. Wilson
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 24, 2015

(US dollars, except where noted)
(Unit of weight is US short tons)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ending December 31, 2014
The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and operations of Polaris Materials Corporation, formerly
Polaris Minerals Corporation, (the “Company”) has been prepared by management as of March 05, 2015, and should
be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2014, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains “forward-looking statements” that are subject to risk
factors set out in a cautionary note contained herein. All amounts are in United States dollars unless otherwise noted.

Highlights


Sales of 3.4 million tons is the highest annual sales volume yet recorded;



Margin expansion continued as gross profit for 2014 increased to $1.2 million compared with
$24,000 in the prior year;



Operating financial metrics continued to improve, 2014 Adjusted EBITDA was $0.5 million
compared with $0.1 million in 2013;



Long Beach terminal construction was substantially completed.

Results of Operations
Record aggregate sales volumes of 3.4 million tons in 2014 increased 2% over the previous record set in 2013 and
similarly revenues of $45.2 million increased 1% over the same period. During 2014, the Company reported reduced
costs of goods sold of $12.83 per ton compared to $13.33 per ton in 2013, as customer sales mix reduced delivery
costs and production efficiencies reduced the costs of quarry operations. The year on year decline in the Canadian
dollar exchange rate also helped reduce reported costs from the Orca quarry. Gross margin for the year ended
December 31, 2014, continued to improve over the prior year as the Company recorded a gross profit of $1.2 million
or $0.35 per ton compared to $24,000 or $0.01 per ton for 2013.
(000’s, except per ton amounts)
Sales

Year ended
December 31, 2014
Tons
$

Year ended
December 31, 2013
Tons
$

3,434

3,364

Cost of goods sold

45,241
(44,048)

Gross profit
Gross profit per ton

44,893
(44,869)

1,193

24

0.35

0.01

Revenue and tons sold
Aggregate sales for the year ended 2014 were 3.43 million tons, a 2% increase over 2013. Revenue for the year ended
2014 increased by 1% to $45.2 million, compared with $44.9 million for the year ended 2013. Average selling price
(“ASP”) for 2014 was $13.17, a decrease of $0.18 from $13.35 in 2013. Compared with 2013, revenue had a favorable
price variance of $0.51 per ton or 3.8%, due to pricing increases, offset by a sales mix variance which reduced revenue
by $0.69 per ton. The ASP decrease is consistent with increased tons sold on a Free-On-Board (“FOB”) basis at the
Orca quarry. Sales made ex-quarry do not include freight charges for shipping to California and therefore have a
significantly lower selling price. The favorable price variance was recorded despite the impact of tons sold in 2014
under two fixed price contracts, which either terminate, or have the price adjusted, during the first quarter of 2015. ASP
per ton is influenced quarter by quarter by: changes in selling prices; shipping fuel surcharges; the proportion of tonnage
delivered to the various California terminals; and any variance in the proportions between delivered and ex-quarry
sales.
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Selling Price and Fuel Surcharge Indices
The predominant business of the Company during 2014, was the supply of its aggregate products to several locations
in San Francisco Bay, either delivered under two long term supply agreements or sold ex-quarry to a third contracted
customer that has its own shipping contract and terminal in San Francisco (See: “Customers”). Each delivery point has
a different selling price that can vary quarter by quarter, either for commercial reasons or from the pass-through of
shipping fuel surcharges. The indices below are provided to assist understanding of the movement of prices, and the
impact of the fuel surcharges, starting in Q1-2013. The selling price index is based on the delivered price at the end of
the quarter, net of fuel surcharges, assuming each of the five delivery points in the Bay has equal weighting in order to
provide a comparison that is not distorted by constant changes in activity levels. The Company has achieved an
increase in delivered prices in each quarter since the first quarter of 2013 with a total increase of 8.3% over the two
year period. Over the same period the shipping fuel prices have remained relatively stable with only minor quarterly
impacts. Fuel surcharges have ranged between $1.65/ton and $2.59/ton.
2013

2014

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

(Q1-

100

101.8

103.5

103.8

105.1

106.4

107.2

108.3

Fuel Surcharge Index (Q12013=100)

100

95.8

97.9

102.8

96.3

100.2

102.3

101.4

Selling Price
2013=100)

Index

Cost of goods sold
Overall cost of goods sold for 2014 decreased by 2% to $44.0 million from $44.9 million last year whereas aggregate
tons sold for the year increased 2% over tons sold in 2013. Accordingly, cost of goods sold per ton declined to $12.83
from $13.34 in 2013. The reduction in cost of goods sold per ton benefited from additional volumes supplied ex-quarry
and the decline in the Canadian dollar. During 2014, the cost of goods sold was increased by $0.8 million of additional
barge lightering costs and inefficiencies in shipping caused by a reduction in draft to access the Redwood City terminal,
which handled 61% of the Company’s delivered tonnage.
Gross profit
For the year ended December 31, 2014 the Company’s gross profit was $1.2 million, or $0.35 per ton, a significant
improvement over the prior year gross profit of $24,000, or $0.01 profit per ton. Similarly, gross margin improved to
2.6% in 2014 from 0.1% in 2013. In 2014 the Company’s gross margin benefited from reduced delivery costs and
favourable foreign exchange rates.
Selling, general and administrative costs
During the year ended December 31, 2014, selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses were $6.6 million,
including $1.5 million of non-cash stock based compensation, compared to $5.4 million, including $0.9 million of stock
based compensation, in the same period for 2013. SG&A during 2014 was 14.5% of sales compared to 11.9% of sales
during 2013. Net of non-cash charges for stock based compensation, 2014 SG&A represented 11.3% of sales
compared with 9.9% last year.
Provision for property tax assessment
In 2013 ERA received a payment demand, including penalties, for property tax dating back to 2008. Under the terms
of its lease agreement with Levin Terminals Inc. (“Levin”), ERA has paid its pro-rata share of property tax on the
Richmond terminal land each year to Levin. The County’s assessment was in regard to personal property taxes on the
value of the building, leasehold improvements, and equipment at the site. During 2013 the Company was successful in
reducing the original assessment period from five years to four under a statute of limitations applicable to the tax code
and entered into an Escape Assessment Installment Plan (the “Plan”) with the County, whereby the remaining
outstanding balance of the taxes are payable in five annual installments commencing August 31, 2013. During 2014
the Company withdrew its appeal seeking exclusion of costs originally included in the assessment and concluded a
negotiated settlement for the application of credits based on the past utilization of assets. During 2014 the Company
revised its provision for property taxes owing by $568,000 to a total of $2.103 million, of which $1.535 has already been
provided. The liability at December 31, 2014 of $1.277 million is net of amounts already paid. Of this amount $898,000
has been classified as a long-term liability based on the Plan agreed with the County.
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Net loss
The Company incurred a net loss attributable to shareholders of $6.7 million ($0.08 per share loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2014, compared to a net loss attributable to shareholders of $8.2 million ($0.11 per share loss) for the
ended December 31, 2013. The year-on-year net loss comparison benefited from improved gross margins as well as
a significant decrease in finance charges due to the repayment of long term debt in 2013.

Selected Annual Information
($000’s, except per share amounts)

2014

2013

Revenue

45,241

44,893

32,196

Net loss attributable to shareholders

(6,685)

(8,208)

(12,238)

per share (basic and diluted)

($0.08)

($0.11)

($0.23)

Total assets
Total non-current liabilities

2012

83,878

78,571

80,153

4,974

4,538

11,155

See Results of Operations section for discussion of annual and general trends.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash and cash equivalents, other working capital
items, finance leases for the procurement of heavy equipment, and access to capital markets. The Company manages
its working capital and long-term capital structure and resources in order to minimize the cost of capital while properly
managing credit, liquidity, and other market risks.
Working Capital
At December 31, 2014, the Company had working capital of $19.0 million that included cash and cash equivalents of
$14.2 million. Comparatively, at December 31, 2013 the Company had working capital of $11.8 million including cash
and cash equivalents of $9.4 million.
Operating, Financing and Investing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2014 the Company used cash for operations of $3.8 million ($1.10 per ton) which
was principally absorbed for non-cash working capital items as trade accounts receivable increased by $2.2 million
through a combination of increased sales prices and a major customer returning to contracted payment terms whereas
their payments had previously been accelerated. Accordingly, after factoring in the increase in trade receivables the
current year was comparable to cash used for operations for 2013 of $1.4 million ($0.40 per ton).
For the year ended December 31, 2014 financing activities provided cash of $15.4 million compared to cash provided
by financing activities of $7.2 million for the year ended 2013. During the second quarter of 2014, the Company
completed a bought deal financing of 6.8 million common shares, issued at CAD$2.57 per share, for gross proceeds
of CAD$17.4 million. Net proceeds, after the deduction of the underwriters’ commission and other fees and expenses
were CAD$16.3 million. The proceeds are being used to evaluate a potential limestone resource development and
additional port terminal opportunities, and for working capital purposes.
Investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2014, used cash of $5.4 million compared to cash used of $1.7
million for 2013. Investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 are mainly attributable to site development
costs and purchases of equipment for the Long Beach terminal project, along with purchases of plant and equipment
at the Orca quarry.
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Non-IFRS Measures
Adjusted Loss
The Company has prepared a calculation of adjusted loss for the period in order to better reflect underlying business
performance by removing certain non-cash adjustments from its IFRS calculation of loss as it believes this is a useful
indicator for investors. Adjusted loss may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.
($000’s, except per share amounts)

2014

Net loss for the period attributable to shareholders of Polaris
Adjustments
Share-based employee benefits
Loss on settlement of loan
Property tax provision
Other (gains) losses
Adjusted net loss for the period
per share
per ton

2013

(6,685)

(8,208)

1,470
568
505
(4,142)
(0.05)
(1.21)

900
870
1,535
(246)
(5,149)
(0.07)
(1.53)

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA, EBITDA per share and adjusted EBITDA per share (“EBITDA Metrics”) are non-IFRS
financial measures. EBITDA and EBITDA per share represent net income, excluding income tax expense, interest
expense and amortization and accretion. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA per share better reflects the
underlying business performance of the Company by removing certain non-cash adjustments from its calculation of
EBITDA and EBITDA per share. The Company believes that the EBITDA Metrics trends are valuable indicators of
whether its operations are generating sufficient operating cash flow to fund working capital needs and to fund capital
expenditures. The Company uses the results depicted by the EBITDA Metrics for these purposes, an approach utilized
by the majority of public companies in the construction materials sector. The EBITDA Metrics are intended to provide
additional information, do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. These measures are not
necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. Other companies
may calculate these measures differently.
The following table reconciles these non-IFRS measures to the most directly comparable IFRS measure.
($000’s except per share amounts)

2014

2013

Net loss for the period attributed to shareholders of Polaris
Interest expense
Income tax expense
Amortization, depletion and accretion

(6,685)
210
15
4,457

(8,208)
714
40
4,495

EBITDA

(2,003)

(2,959)

per share

(0.02)

(0.04)

per ton

(0.58)

(0.88)

1,470
568
505

900
870
1,535
(246)

Adjustments
Share-based employee benefits
Loss on settlement of loan
Property tax provision
Other (gains) losses
Adjusted EBITDA

540

100

per share

0.01

0.00

per ton

0.16

0.03
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Summary of Quarterly Results
The selected financial information set out below is based on and derived from the unaudited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for each of the quarters listed:
2014

($000’s)
Dec 31
Revenue
Gross profit (loss)

2013

Sept 30

June 30

10,038

13,429

13,246

657

720

129

Mar 31
8,528

Dec 31
14,067

Sept 30

June 30

9,398

10,904

Mar 31
10,524

(313)

1,234

(118)

(503)

(589)

Earnings (loss) before
interest and income taxes

(1,238)

(2,174)

(1,754)

(1,671)

88

(2,967)

(2,538)

(1,643)

Net income (loss)

(1,416)

(2,140)

(1,806)

(1,597)

339

(3,062)

(3,824)

(2,088)

Net income (loss)
attributable to
shareholders of Polaris

(1,439)

(2,096)

(1,624)

(1,526)

63

(2,847)

(3,545)

(1,879)

(0.02)

(0.02)

(0.02)

(0.02)

0.00

(0.03)

(0.05)

(0.03)

Basic and diluted net loss
per share
(000’s Tons)
Sales

750

1,032

1,020

632

1,068

687

836

773

Aggregate production

789

989

864

776

1,009

770

866

641

FOURTH QUARTER 2014
Aggregate sales for the quarter were 750,000 tons, a 30% decrease from sales of 1,068,000 tons in same quarter for
2013. Compared to the same quarter in the prior year, the current quarter saw an impact from more seasonally
expected factors with high rainfall in the Company’s principal market in the quarter.
Revenue for the quarter decreased by 29% to $10.0 million compared with $14.1 million in the comparable quarter for
the previous year. Fourth quarter revenue benefited from further selling price increases compared to the prior year
quarter. ASP during the fourth quarter increased $0.21 per ton to $13.38 from $13.17 in the same period of 2013.
Compared with 2013, fourth quarter revenue had a favorable price variance of $0.45 per ton or 3.4%, due to pricing
increases. This was partially offset by a sales mix variance that reduced revenue by $0.24 per ton, and is consistent
with the additional tons sold under fixed price contracts.
Cost of goods sold in the quarter decreased by 27% to $9.4 million compared with $12.8 million in the same quarter of
the previous year. Cost of goods sold per ton of $12.52 was an increase of $0.50/ton compared to $12.02/ton for the
same period in 2013. The per ton increase is mainly attributable to the reduced effect of operating leverage over fixed
costs, which is a consequence of the reduced sales and the continuing impact of reduced drafts into the Redwood City
terminal. It was partially offset by the declining Canadian dollar as quarry costs are incurred in Canadian dollars and
translated into US dollars for reporting purposes.
During the fourth quarter of 2014 the Company’s gross profit was $0.7 million, or $0.88/ton, compared with a gross
profit of $1.2 million or $1.16/ton in the prior period. SG&A expenses represented 18.3% of sales and were $0.5 million
higher than in the same period of 2013 when they represented 9.3% of sales. Net of non-cash charges for stock based
compensation, SG&A represented 15.6% of sales in this current quarter compared with 8.1% last year.
The Company incurred a net loss attributable to shareholders of $1.2 million ($0.02 per share loss) during the three
months ended December 31, 2014, compared to net earnings attributable to shareholders of $0.3 million ($0.00 per
share) during the three months ended December 31, 2013. The result this quarter was principally attributable to the
factors discussed above combined with increased property holding costs and a provision made for the settlement of
the property tax assessment.
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Segmented Analysis
The Company operates in one segment: the development and operation of construction aggregate properties and
projects located in the western North America.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s contractual obligations are outlined in the following table:
Between
Between
Between
Between
Within 1
1–2
2–3
3–4
4–5
year
years
years
years
years
$
$
$
$
$
(in thousands)
Trade and other payables
Finance leases
Commitments relating to operating
and through-put agreements
Restoration provision

-

Over 5
years
$

3,640
418

311

284

270

-

2,178
-

2,155
-

2,196
12

2,195
-

2,248
-

8,525
3,454

6,236

2,466

2,492

2,465

2,248

11,979

Lease and through-put agreements
For the Richmond Terminal the Company has a 20 year ground lease with Levin Enterprises Inc. and a 20 year facilities
use agreement with Pacific Atlantic Terminals LLC, both ending January 2028, however, the Company has the option
to extend the ground lease for two additional ten-year periods to 2048 and to extend the facilities use agreement by
ten years to 2038. Base rent and through-put charges based on minimum aggregate volumes purchased and/or sold
through the Richmond Terminal, are payable in monthly payments.
In July 2010, the Company entered into a lease at commercial annual rates, with L.G. Everist, Inc. for Berth D-44, an
8.3 acre site in the Port of Long Beach, California. The lease has an initial term of five years with three additional fiveyear extension options, exercisable by the Company, which would extend the tenure to June 30, 2030.
Shipping Tonnage
The Company has a Contract of Affreightment (“NCoA”) which is effective from January 1, 2010 with a term of 20 years.
The NCoA requires the Company to ship minimum tonnages per year. On December 19, 2013 the Company and its
exclusive shipper amended the NCoA to reflect changes in the operation that included a fixed annual minimum tonnage
commitment of 2,970,000 tons in each of the remaining years of the contract. The Company has the option in any
given year to increase or decrease the annual commitment by 10% without penalty. Sales under the Company’s supply
agreement with a new customer, that commenced February, 2013, are FOB shipping point and are not included toward
the Company’s minimum shipping commitment. Failure by the Company to ship its annual cargo commitment will result
in a dead-freight charge equal to 75% of the freight rate for the unshipped tons. Minimum freight volume penalties are
payable annually in the first quarter following the year in which freight volumes do not meet the minimum volume
requirements in the NCoA. The Company did not pay penalties in respect of the 2014 year.
Royalty Assessment for Eagle Rock Quarry Project
The Company is disputing a royalty assessment for 2012 and 2013. During the first quarter of 2014, the Company’s
subsidiary Eagle Rock Materials Ltd. was notified by the British Columbia Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural
Resource Operations that royalties were due of CAD$456,000 for 2012 and CAD$496,000 for 2013, based on the
tenure date, in respect of the Company’s quarrying lease for the Eagle Rock Quarry project. The Company position is
that royalties are only payable based on actual production, in accordance with a written undertaking from the
responsible government agency prior to commencement of the lease, and as the project has not been developed, no
royalties are currently due. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded a provision for the royalties. The Company
has presented its case to the Ministry but has yet to receive a response.
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Community Benefit Fund
In accordance with the Impact and Benefits Agreement (“the Agreement”) established with the Namgis First Nation
(“the Namgis”), part owner of the Orca Quarry, the Company was obliged, within five years of commencement of
operations, to make contributions of $0.06 per metric tonne to a foundation dedicated to the development of the
communities specified in the Agreement. Currently, the Namgis are in the process of establishing the financial
structures and governance practices of the foundation. Based on existing discussions with the Namgis a foundation or
similar entity will be established within the next year. Therefore the Company has recorded a provision, based on
tonnes sold by Orca from and after the date of commencement of contributions (March 2012), of CAD$472,000 which
has been classified as a current liability.
Strategic alliance and supply agreements
The Company has a long-term alliance with Cemex Inc. (“Cemex”), an international construction materials company.
The alliance consists of a 10 year strategic alliance agreement, a standstill agreement, a 20 year supply and distribution
agreement for northern California and a 10 year joint cooperation and development agreement. These agreements
were executed with an effective date of September, 25, 2007. The Company also has a 20 year aggregates supply
agreement with Shamrock Materials Inc., a well-established construction aggregates consumer located in the San
Francisco Bay, area that commenced in April 2007. See “Commitments and contingencies” (note 21) in the Company’s
December 31, 2014 financial statements for additional disclosures.
The supply and distribution agreement with Cemex, for their northern California exclusive territory, contained both target
tonnages that would be expected to be purchased in normal economic conditions and also minimum tonnages that
each party was required to supply, or purchase, as appropriate. During 2008 the minimum tonnage was exceeded but
in 2009 it quickly became apparent that the magnitude of the collapse in demand in California was such that the contract
numbers were unrealistic in the short term. Because this change was forced by circumstances beyond the control or
influence of either party, it was agreed that revised tonnage commitments would be negotiated on an annual basis to
reflect market conditions prevailing at the time. A similar situation arose with the Shamrock supply agreement with
market changes effectively representing a “force majeure” situation. Tonnage expectations are now negotiated
annually.

Overview of the Company, Operations, Markets and Outlook
MARKET OUTLOOK AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Sales in 2014 were 3,434,000 tons, an increase of 2% over 2013 which resulted from a 13% increase in sales to
terminals in the busy San Francisco/San Jose corridor which were largely offset by a reduction of 30% in sales into the
north and east San Francisco Bay markets. The market overall is continuing to increase in northern California as private
housing, private commercial, and public infrastructure sectors all continue to improve following the recession, however,
it was patchy during 2014 as the disparity in sales in these areas demonstrated. Sales in the fourth quarter of 2014
were impacted by exceptional rainfall events which had not occurred for some years. The City of San Francisco
recorded 14.45 inches of rainfall in the quarter, whereas the comparative figure for the fourth quarter of 2013 was 1.65
inches. A similar pattern was observed in Long Beach with intense storm events occurring in December. The Company
had secured a dedicated smaller self-discharging vessel with which to supply a one-off major contract through the Port
of Redwood City, the start of which was delayed until the second quarter. This contract contributed significantly to the
volume in the last three quarters of 2014 and will be completed early in 2015 when the volume is expected to be
replaced at current market prices, which are higher than those prevailing in the contract.
The continuing increase in northern California’s demand, coupled with the increasing recognition of the value of the
high quality Orca aggregate to meet exacting specifications for concrete, is enabling the Company to achieve real price
increases. The California customers that service the markets from the city of San Francisco down the peninsula to San
Jose, the corridor generally referred to as Silicon Valley, are seeing the strongest demand driven by the very successful
high-tech sector in those areas. However, the market remains patchy with the east and northern Bay markets not yet
demonstrating a substantial recovery although the Company anticipates that this will begin to change in 2015 with a
number of large projects planned.
In the US, the aggregates market nationally continues to be impacted through uncertainty regarding the future funding
for highways and major infrastructure, despite a clear consensus in Congress regarding support for infrastructure
investment. A major issue has been the potential insolvency of the Highway Trust Fund. On July 31st, 2014, Congress
authorized a short-term financing patch that extended MAP 21, a multi-year transportation bill enacted in 2005, through
May 2015, and provided $11 billion of transfers to the Highway Trust Fund, however, the need for a long term solution
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remains. One positive initiative that is in place enables states to apply for funding assistance under the Transportation
Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) which will provide $1.75 billion of Federal credit assistance through
2015 for nationally or regionally significant surface transportation projects. Each dollar of Federal funds can provide up
to $10 in TIFIA credit assistance, leveraged up to $30 in transportation infrastructure investment. The latest economic
outlook from the Portland Cement Association, in September 2014, forecast that cement consumption would increase
by 8.2% in 2014 with further increases of the same magnitude in each of 2015 and 2016. These are national forecasts
and significant regional variances should be anticipated, however, the Company expects that California will perform
better than the national average. Further evidence of a broad-based construction industry recovery came from the
Dodge Momentum Index which in December 2014 was 128.7, 17% higher than in December 2013.
In respect of private sector construction investment, the Company believes that the encouraging statistics showing a
resurgence in private housing will continue albeit at a measured pace. Statistics in terms of housing sales, starts,
inventories and pricing have been difficult to read as they often appear contradictory, however, a view from Stan
Humphries, the top economist at real estate site Zillow in 2014, was “The reality is that the market is moving from one
defined by distortions including high negative equity and constricted inventory, to one defined by fundamentals like
household formation rates, jobs and income growth……we are slowly getting back to normal”. Although this sector is
less influential on the demand for Orca Quarry materials than private commercial investment, it is nonetheless helpful
that each sector of the construction economy recover towards normalized levels enabling a return to logical competitive
factors. Increased multiple occupancy unit construction activity in San Francisco, coupled with strong private
commercial activity, particularly in the San Francisco/San Jose corridor is contributing significantly to increasing
demand for Orca Quarry product. House prices are reported to be increasing strongly in the San Francisco market
which can be expected to benefit housing starts and commercial development to the north of the Golden Gate Bridge
and also in the east Bay, areas that have lagged behind the upsurge in demand experienced in the south and west Bay
area.
Local reserves of construction aggregate continue to decline and the development of new replacement quarries is still
strongly opposed by local residents in most markets, especially those crucial to our business. The California Geological
Survey released a report titled “Aggregate Sustainability in California, 2012” which is essentially an update to similarly
titled reports published in 2002 and 2006. The report contains a considerable amount of data which demonstrates that
aggregate resource shortages remain a major problem in a number of major markets in the State, where they continue
to decline and are not being replaced, with complete exhaustion projected in a decade or so. Despite these dire
predictions, the quarrying industry’s problems in permitting new resources have not changed and it remains extremely
difficult, especially around major urban markets, to obtain new permits. The Company’s development strategy has
been delayed by the severe economic recession that began in 2008 but the fundamental principles remain and future
sources of aggregate, particularly sand and gravel, will be considerably further from the ports serviced by Orca
aggregate which will place further upward pressure on selling prices.
Recent examples of the difficult resource permitting climate are: Lehigh-Hanson ceasing limestone aggregate
production in Cupertino at the end of 2014, this operation had been suspended some three years earlier pending
resolution of a permitting issues; the refusal to permit a proposed large new granite quarry in Riverside County north
of San Diego; and the rejection of a new hard rock quarry proposed near Fresno. Both the San Diego and Fresno
proposals failed due to the high level of public concern about such operations. In August, 2014, an application to
develop a sand and gravel quarry at Paicines Ranch, approximately 90 miles south of San Jose, was abandoned by
the proponent before the county board could consider it following “significant opposition”. Not all applications fail. In
July, 2014, West Coast Aggregate Supply received a thirty year extension to their mining permit. This operation, in
Riverside County to the east of Los Angeles, has been in production since 1982. The January 2011 San Diego Region
Aggregate Supply Study prepared under the direction of SANDAG (San Diego Area Governments) stated; “One of the
challenges facing this region is how to meet the increasing demand for aggregate at a time when the local supply is
shrinking”, this being particularly with reference to materials necessary to meet planned public sector expenditure. The
report highlighted the need for further land based resources, coupled with the requirement to import materials by ship,
train or barge and supported the Company’s original interest to supply that market.
In Hawaii, the Company is focusing on major infrastructure projects where the ability of Orca Quarry materials to meet
stringent performance requirements provides strong technical and economic justification for their usage. For example,
a major trial at the Hickam Air Force Base was supervised by the US Army Corps of Engineers. The trial involved
concrete paving for runway construction made exclusively from Orca aggregate and the results were extremely positive.
This will eventually benefit sales for very demanding applications although the Company recognizes that the expected
increase in volumes would be modest in comparison to California demand. The initial term of the Company’s supply
agreement with its Hawaiian customer has expired following which sales continued at previous levels during 2014. The
outlook for sales to Hawaii is somewhat uncertain following the acquisitions by local development companies, in 2014,
of two of the three customers using Orca aggregate. This has resulted in the termination of the previous working
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arrangement for the imports. The Company expects to supply Honolulu again in 2015 but details have not yet been
decided.
Relatively small quantities of materials continue to be sold occasionally for use in British Columbia or Alaska and are
loaded into barges provided by the customers.
OPERATIONS
Quarry Properties
The Orca Quarry is situated to the west of the town of Port McNeill, British Columbia, and commenced shipments of
high quality sand and gravel construction aggregates to west coast ready mix concrete producers in March 2007.
Mineral extraction takes place from the East Cluxewe deposit which contained a reserve of 134 million tons at the
commencement of operations in 2007. Estimates of remaining reserves are contained in the Company’s Annual
Information Form.
The Company has also explored additional lands in the Orca Quarry area, over which it has certain rights, referred to
as the East Cluxewe Extension and West Cluxewe deposits. After due consideration of the resource, environmental
and permitting factors relative to these areas, the Company anticipates that, following completion of extraction of the
East Cluxewe deposit, working the East Cluxewe Extension deposit, which is contiguous with its current operations,
will be the first priority to be followed by the West Cluxewe deposit. The necessary permits for working these additional
deposits will be sought much nearer the time when they will be required.
The Company also owns the rights to develop the Eagle Rock Quarry Project, a very large granite resource located on
deep tidewater alongside the Alberni Inlet near Port Alberni, British Columbia. The Eagle Rock Quarry received its mine
permit in 2003 and in 2008 renewed the Environmental Assessment Certificate from the Province of BC, which expired
in September 2013 and will need to be renewed prior to commencing development. The Company continues to seek
market outlets which would support the development of the quarry to produce crushed rock construction aggregate
products. This high quality aggregate is anticipated to be ideal for asphalt manufacture and over time is expected to be
a significant source of coarse aggregate for use in concrete when it will complement Orca Quarry which produces a
high proportion of natural sand. The effects of the recession have made it difficult to predict when it might be possible
to advance this project to a construction phase.
In June, 2014, the Company announced that it would investigate a potential limestone deposit, located close to the
Orca Quarry that, if viable, would provide coarse aggregates to complement the sand-rich Orca deposit. Initial field
studies commenced in 2015.
Marine Terminals
Marine receiving terminals are a crucial component in the Company’s logistics and opportunities to develop further
suitable terminals are scarce and may require substantial investment. The Company currently delivers construction
aggregate to five terminals in San Francisco Bay where it is now the exclusive supplier by ocean-going vessel. The
Richmond Terminal is owned and operated by the Company and has a permitted capacity of 1.5 million tons per year
serving the north and east Bay areas. The Redwood City terminal in southwest San Francisco Bay and the Pier 92
terminal near downtown San Francisco are owned and operated by the Company’s strategic alliance partner, Cemex.
During 2014, Cemex received an increased permit for Redwood City such that these terminals have a combined annual
capacity exceeding 2.0 million tons.
The shipping channel leading into the Port of Redwood City had required dredging for some time because of silting. A
reduced draft negatively affects the capacity of the CSL vessels to deliver and therefore impacts the efficiency and
costs of shipping. Dredging of this Federal Channel is the responsibility of the US Army Corps of Engineers and it has
taken more than two years for the Port and the Corps to obtaining funding for this work which finally commenced in
October, 2014 and approximately 75% had been completed at the yearend with a final phase to be carried out in
summer 2015. Unfortunately, while carrying out surveys necessary for planning this dredging during the first half of
2014, the Corps had found the silting to be worse than expected and immediately placed a further reduction in the safe
navigation draft for the channel which caused the Company and Cemex to incur additional barge lightering costs which
were shared on a 50:50 basis in 2014.
Since February, 2013, the Company has supplied aggregates for the Pier 94 terminal of Hanson Aggregates in the Port
of San Francisco. The Landing Way Depot, on the Petaluma River in Sonoma County, owned and operated by Landing
Way Depot, Inc., has an annual capacity of approximately 1.25 million tons and serves the requirements of Shamrock
Materials Inc.
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The Company’s strategic objectives include the development of marine terminals in southern California. In the third
quarter of 2009, the Company secured an option to lease an existing marine aggregate importing terminal in the Port
of Long Beach, California, at Berth D-44 and, in July 2010, exercised this option and entered into a five year lease with
renewal at the Company’s option for a further three, five-year, periods to a total of 20 years. This 8.3 acre site is privately
owned and operated for many years receiving construction aggregates from barges with storage in open stockpiles.
The site, which was previously permitted to receive and distribute up to 3 million tons of construction aggregates per
year, is located on a deep-water channel and is close to Interstate 710, which services the greater Los Angeles area.
The Los Angeles market is now exhibiting strong recovery and following enquiries from major contractors experienced
in the use of Orca aggregates, the Company decided to proceed with the development of the terminal. The Ports of
Long Beach and Los Angeles are currently engaged in major construction projects designed to enhance their ability to
receive and efficiently handle much larger container vessels. As a consequence, the demand for concrete aggregate
to meet these massive construction projects will increase significantly.
Previously aggregates were delivered by barges and the Company obtained a Harbor Development Permit for the site
to enable delivery by Panamax size vessels following the submission of an Environmental Impact Report. During the
second quarter of 2013 the Company received a dredging permit from the US Army Corps of Engineers for the
maintenance dredging required at Berth D-44 in order to accommodate the Panamax vessels of CSL and, following a
procedural delay, this work was carried out in March, 2014. The Company had to apply to the Southern California Air
Board for an Air Permit for the new operation and the permit was finally issued in September, 2014. This permit has an
initial capacity of one million tons per year which the Company was able to secure without requiring the purchase of
offsets, an increasingly prevalent component in permitting in these most difficult locations. However, the permit may
be expanded in the future on an incremental basis.
The Company placed orders in the first quarter of 2014 for long lead-time conveying and material handling equipment,
along with berthing equipment to be used for mooring vessels at the site and construction commenced on-site in July
2014. Extreme rainfall events in December 2014 and January 2015 have resulted in further requirements for grading
and drainage works to be negotiated with the city. All material handling and ship mooring installations are complete,
and the company hopes to have agreement on the final drainage and to have completed the work by the end of the
first quarter of 2015.
The Company has appointed Richard A. Williams as Director Business Development for its US marketing and
distribution. Mr. Williams is an experienced concrete engineer and marketing professional based in the greater Los
Angeles area who provides technical expertise in design for projects where the premium quality of the Orca Quarry
sand and gravel can offer cost effective solutions. An extensive test program of the Orca aggregate in Southern
California has provided excellent results to support the marketing.
The Company, through a jointly owned subsidiary, Cemera San Diego, LLC, had continued to register an interest in an
opportunity in the Port of San Diego for the development of a marine aggregate terminal to service the San Diego
market, which has significant aggregate supply deficiencies. On August 4, 2009, The Port of San Diego granted Cemera
San Diego, LLC, an exclusive negotiating agreement (the “ENA”) for an option to lease and develop an approximate
100,000 square foot building located at the Tenth Avenue Marine Terminal for the purpose of receiving and distributing
aggregates. On February 28, 2010, the ENA expired; however, the Port of San Diego issued a comfort letter in
succession to the ENA. By the end of 2014 it was increasingly clear that the port was involved in a lengthy process to
determine the vision for the future use of its lands and that certain entities were pressing for alternate uses that would
see the end of marine-based activities. In recognition of the complex issues and uncertainty of outcome, the Company
will only maintain a low-key relationship and as a consequence, Cemera San Diego LLC was dissolved in January
2015. The Company has maintained an interest in the Port of Hueneme to the north of Los Angeles. The opportunity
to develop a terminal in this location, where coarse aggregate supply shortages have been identified, was originally of
interest, however, demand for the Company’s Orca coarse aggregate (gravel) has increased substantially in the
northern California markets and it would no longer be possible to support sales in this location. This situation mitigates
the Company’s need to further develop coastal terminals.
SHIPPING
The Company is currently shipping its products from Vancouver Island, British Columbia, to San Francisco Bay by selfunloading Panamax vessels provided by CSL International Inc (“CSL”). Sales to Hawaii, Alaska, British Columbia, and
under the supply agreement to California that commenced in the first quarter of 2013, are made on an FOB, basis by
loading ships or barges provided and paid for, by the customer.
On arrival in San Francisco Bay, CSL’s vessels are partially unloaded while at anchor (“lightered”) into barges provided
by either Shamrock Materials Inc., or Cemex, under the terms of the twenty-year aggregate supply agreements. Barges
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are chartered occasionally from an independent operator, particularly during the period of significant draft restrictions
for vessels going to Redwood City. After lightering, the balance of the cargo may be unloaded at Cemex’s Redwood
City terminal or at the Company’s Richmond Terminal. These arrangements offer the most economic shipping solution
by utilizing fully loaded Panamax vessels from Vancouver Island to San Francisco Bay. The increasing demand for
Orca Quarry products in northern California assists in maximizing shipping efficiency although balance between the
individual terminals requires careful management being market driven and therefore highly variable.
Shipping Fuel Surcharges
As a consequence of the Company’s two major supply agreements in northern California, the Company absorbs
changes in the cost of shipping fuel during a quarter and then passes the cost, or benefit, through to the customer
during the following quarter. The commencement selling prices to both customers reflected actual fuel costs at the
time of entering into the contracts.
The Company’s sensitivity to changes in fuel prices is as follows: for every $10 movement per metric tonne in the price
of Low Sulphur Fuel Oil (“LSFO”), the main fuel required to be used in shipping since August, 2012, the Company’s
delivered price is impacted, positively or negatively, by approximately 3.7 cents per ton.
North American Emission Control Area
On August 1, 2012, the USA EPA and Environment Canada established a North American Emission Control Area (the
“ECA”) of 200 nautical miles around the US and Canadian coasts. All vessels operating within the ECA must now use
Low Sulphur Fuel Oil (LSFO) which has a limit of 1% sulphur. This action significantly increased the cost of shipping
from August 1st, 2012, which the Company has passed on to its customers under pass-through clauses in the
Company’s sales agreements. On January 1, 2015, Phase II of the ECA regulation was implemented that required a
further reduction in the sulphur content of the marine fuels to a maximum of 0.1%. The Company had anticipated that
this final ECA implementation would result in a further overall increase in the cost of fuels that would be again passed
through to customers. However, the unforeseen and substantial fall in world crude oil prices has meant that 2015 has
opened with fuel costs below those experienced in 2014 despite the use of the more refined fuel. The Company is
unable to predict how long this situation may prevail.
The objective of the ECA is to reduce emissions from ships that might be harmful to coastal environments, a principle
supported by marine cargo shippers including CSL International, the Company’s exclusive shipper. However, the US
EPA directed that the ECA be 200 miles offshore without the benefit of new research which clearly establishes that an
ECA limit beyond 50 miles provides no further benefit to coastal environments. This new regulation has adversely
impacted many freight movements in North America and these coastal regions would actually be seriously impacted
by the increased air pollution and road congestion that would arise should millions of tons per annum of products,
including construction aggregate, be forced to use shore-based truck or rail transportation rather than ships. A Coalition
of Short-Sea Shippers, coupled with the Maritime Industrial Transportation Alliance, are actively pressing for the ECA
to be modified to 50 miles for smaller, short-sea, coastal vessels which would include those operated by CSL. The
Company is engaged with the National Stone and Sand and Gravel Association to support the coastal shippers in trying
to achieve a modification to the ECA regulations to enable the economic benefits to be maintained in the vital supply
of construction aggregates to coastal cities, without negatively impacting the coastal environment. The coalition
continues to tackle this issue, despite implementation of the second stage of ECA restrictions on fuel sulphur on January
1, 2015. It is anticipated that a decision will be made by mid-2015, by the coalition, in respect of continuation or
abandonment of this campaign.
CUSTOMERS
The Company’s Strategic Alliance with Cemex, which was established in 2007, provides for the joint development of
new port receiving terminals on the US west coast that will ultimately be required to achieve the Orca Quarry’s permitted
production of 6.6 million tons per year. Either company may proceed with a legitimate terminal development project
should the alliance partner decline the right to participate for any reason. Cemex, a public company, headquartered in
Mexico, is one of a small number of major international cement manufacturers and a significant producer of construction
aggregate and ready mix concrete, in markets throughout the world.
A second long-term supply agreement commenced with Shamrock Materials in 2007. Orca Quarry products are
unloaded from Panamax vessels, at anchorage in San Francisco Bay, into Shamrock’s own barges for transportation
to an aggregate terminal situated at Petaluma, CA. Shamrock Materials is a well-established private company supplying
ready mixed concrete in the north San Francisco Bay area.
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The Company maintains a close relationship with the management of both Shamrock and Cemex, which together
accounted for approximately 70% of the Company’s sales in 2013.
In December 2012, the Company entered into a sales agreement with Hanson Aggregates Mid-Pacific Inc., a subsidiary
of a major international building materials company headquartered in Germany. The agreement has a fixed first period
of three years with two, three-year, renewal options requiring mutual agreement to extend. Sales under the agreement
commenced in February, 2013.
The Company also supplies customers in Hawaii and British Columbia, which are substantial private companies with
whom management maintains a working relationship, however, these sales are effectively made on a spot basis.
SALES AND SEASONALITY
The Company’s Orca sand and gravel quarry operates year-round, however, sales demand is seasonal due to the
impact of poor weather conditions, particularly in the first (winter) quarter which have an impact on production volumes
and demand for the Company’s products. As a consequence the Company’s financial results for any individual quarter
are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for that year. Sales and earnings are typically sensitive to
regional and local weather, market conditions, and, in particular, to cyclical variations in construction spending.

Related Party Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company accrued for or paid the following services by related parties.
Proconsult UK Ltd. (“Proconsult”), a company controlled by David Singleton, provided to the Company, management
and marketing services at a cost of $151,783 (year ended December 31, 2013 - $292,917). The Company had an
agreement to pay Proconsult a retainer of $14,500 per month plus expenses until June 30, 2014, at which time the
agreement expired. Navigator Management Ltd. (“Navigator”), a company controlled by Marco Romero, provided to
the Company, consulting services at a cost of CAD$42,165 (year ended December 31, 2013 – CAD$42,055). The
Company has agreed to pay Navigator a retainer of CAD$3,000 per month plus expenses under the agreement.
Martineau & Associates (“Martineau”), a company controlled by Eugene Martineau, provided to the Company
commercial and marketing services at a cost of $13,500 (year ended December 31, 2013 – nil). The Company has
agreed to pay Martineau a fee of $1,500 per day plus expenses under the agreement.
These costs are included in general and administrative expenses. Transactions with related parties are recorded at
the price agreed between the parties.
At December 31, 2014, accounts payable included; $6,425 due to Proconsult, (December 31, 2013 - $19,252) and
CAD$3,244 due to Navigator, (December 31, 2013 – CAD$3,850).

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its accounting policies and
estimates and assumptions about the future. Estimates and other judgments are continuously evaluated and are based
on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations about future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The following discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates
that the company has made in the preparation of the financial statements:
(i) Determination of mineral reserves
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the Company’s
properties. In order to estimate reserves, estimates are required about a range of geological, technical and
economic factors, including quantities, production techniques, production costs, capital costs, transport costs,
demand, prices and exchange rates. Estimating the quantity of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of
deposits to be determined by analyzing geological data. This process may require complex and difficult geological
judgments to interpret the data. As a result, management will form a view of forecast sales prices, based on current
and long-term historical average price trends. Changes in the proven and probable reserves estimates may impact
the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, restoration provisions, recognition of deferred tax amounts and
depreciation, depletion and amortization.
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(ii) Asset values and impairment charges
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognized immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. Management’s determination of recoverable
amounts include estimates of sales volumes and prices, costs to sell, recoverable reserves, operating costs and
capital costs, which are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that may affect the recoverability of an asset’s
costs. Although management has made its best estimate of these factors, it is possible that changes could occur
that could adversely affect management’s estimate of the net cash flow to be generated from its assets or cashgenerating units.
For quarrying property interests the Company considers both external and internal sources of information in
assessing whether there are any indications of impairment. External sources of information the Company considers
include changes in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within
its control and affect the recoverable amount of quarrying property interests. Internal sources of information the
Company considers include indications of economic performance of the assets. In determining the recoverable
amounts of the Company’s quarrying property interests, the Company’s management makes estimates of the
discounted future after-tax cash flows expected to be derived from the Company’s properties, costs to sell the
quarrying properties and the appropriate discount rate. Reductions in price forecasts, increases in estimated future
costs of production, increases in estimated future non-expansionary capital expenditures, reductions in the amount
of recoverable reserves and resources, and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the carrying
amounts of the Company’s quarrying interests.
(iii) Estimated Reclamation and Closure Costs
The Company’s provision for reclamation and closure cost obligations represents management’s best estimate of
the present value of the future cash outflows required to settle the liability which reflects estimates of future costs,
inflation, and assumptions of risks associated with the future cash outflows, and the applicable risk-free interest
rates for discounting the future cash outflows. Changes in the above factors can result in a change to the provision
recognized by the Company. Changes to reclamation and closure cost obligations are recorded with a
corresponding change to the carrying amounts of related quarrying properties. Adjustments to the carrying amounts
of related quarrying properties can result in a change to future depletion expense.
Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted
Unless otherwise noted, the following revised standards and amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2015.
(i)

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009 and addresses classification and measurement
of financial assets. It replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments
with a new mixed measurement model having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit
or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments. Such instruments are either
recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Where
equity instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividends are recognized
in profit or loss to the extent that they do not clearly represent a return of investment; however, other gains
and losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in accumulated comprehensive
income indefinitely. Requirements for financial liabilities were added to IFRS 9 in October 2010 and they
largely carried forward existing requirements in IAS 39, Financial Instruments – Recognition and
Measurement, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through
profit and loss are generally recorded in other comprehensive income. IFRS 9 was amended In November
2013, to (i) include guidance on hedge accounting, (ii) allow entities to early adopt the requirement to recognize
changes in fair value attributable to changes in an entity’s own credit risk, from financial liabilities designated
under the fair value option, in OCI (without having to adopt the remainder of IFRS 9) and (iii) remove the
previous mandatory effective date of January 1, 2015. The July 2014 publication of IFRS 9 is the completed
version of the Standard, replacing earlier versions of IFRS 9 and superseding the guidance relating to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments in IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (IAS 39). The completed version of IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect of this standard
on our financial statements.

(ii)

In May 2014, the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) completed their joint project to
clarify the principles for recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard for IFRS and United
States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP). As a result of the joint project, the IASB issued
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15) to replace IAS 18, Revenue and IAS 11,
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations on revenue recognition.
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The new revenue standard introduces a single, principles based, five-step model for the recognition of revenue
when control of a good or service is transferred to the customer. The five steps are identify the contract(s) with
the customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine transaction price, allocate the
transaction price and recognize revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied. IFRS 15 also requires
enhanced disclosures about revenue to help investors better understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts with customers and improves the comparability of
revenue from contracts with customers.
IFRS 15 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption
permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect of this standard on our financial statements.

Financial Instruments and Related Risk
Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments are as follows:
December 31, 2014
Carrying
amount
Fair value
$
$

(in thousands)

December 31, 2013
Carrying
amount
Fair value
$
$

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Security deposits
Other long-term receivables

14,231
6,118
973
-

14,231
6,118
973
-

9,385
3,943
1,059
131

9,385
3,943
1,059
131

The fair values of cash, trade and other receivables, and security deposits, approximate their carrying values due to
their short-term maturities.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss due to a customer or other third party failing to discharge their
obligation due to the Company. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents consists of demand deposit accounts with
major banks in Canada and the USA as well as Canadian government treasury bills. The Company has four significant
customers, three of which at December 31, 2014 comprise 100% (2013 – four customers comprise 100%) of trade
receivables. The Company’s largest customer is one of the world’s largest international construction materials
companies and the remaining customers are significant construction materials companies within their markets of San
Francisco and Hawaii.
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is comprised of the following:
2014
$

(in thousands)
Demand deposits
Trade and other receivables
Security deposits
Other long-term receivables

2013
$

9,067
6,118
973
-

9,385
3,943
1,059
131

16,158

14,518

At December 31, 2014, no allowance for credit losses has been recorded against accounts receivable. No collateral
or other form of security is held in respect of the amounts that comprise the Company’s exposure to credit risk.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Company manages its liquidity risk by continuing to seek sources of financing at appropriate costs of
capital.
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A maturity analysis of the undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2014 is as
follows:
Between
Between
Between
Between
Within 1
1–2
2–3
3–4
4–5
Over 5
year
years
years
years
years
years
$
$
$
$
$
$
(in thousands)
Trade and other payables
Finance leases

3,640
418

311

284

270

-

-

4,058

311

284

270

-

-

Market Risks
Foreign currency risk
The Company reports in US dollars while operating in both the United States and Canada. The Canadian operations
use the Canadian dollar as their functional currency while the US operations have a US dollar functional currency. As
a result, the Company is exposed to foreign currency gains and or losses affecting net income and cumulative
translation adjustments which affect other comprehensive income. The Company does not use any derivative
instruments to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
For the year ended December 31, 2014 a $0.01 change in the US/Canadian exchange rate, assuming all other variables
did not change, would affect net gain/(loss) by $210,000.
Interest rate risk
The Company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the interest received on demand deposit accounts which are at
floating rates.
For the year ended December 31, 2014 a 100 basis point change in interest rates, assuming all other variables did not
change, would affect annual interest income by $140,000.

Capital Stock
As at the date of this report, the Company had unlimited common shares authorized, of which 87,665,186 were issued
and outstanding. The Company also has 4,932,542 options outstanding, exercisable into 4,932,542 common shares,
of which 3,490,872 are currently vested, and 964,250 warrants outstanding, all of which are vested.

Risks and Uncertainties
Investment in the securities of the Company involves a high degree of risk and should be regarded as speculative due
to the nature of the Company’s business. The Company has incurred losses and expects to incur further losses. Prior
to making an investment in the Company’s securities, prospective investors should carefully consider the information
described in this Management Discussion and Analysis, and documents incorporated by reference, including the risk
factors set out below. Such risk factors could have a material adverse effect on, among other things, the operating
results, earnings, properties, business and condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company.
The Company’s operations may require further capital
The quarrying, processing and development of the Company’s properties and terminals, and any future terminals which
may be acquired and developed by the Company may require substantial additional financing. Failure to obtain
sufficient financing may result in delaying or indefinite postponement of development or production of the Company’s
properties and terminals or even a loss of those property interests. There can be no assurance that additional capital
or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable
to the Company. Any future financing may be dilutive to existing shareholders.
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Reliance on Certain Customers
The Company generates the major proportion of its revenue from sales to three customers. The ability of these
customers to continue in business could have a material effect on the Company and no assurance can be given in that
respect.
The Company may not secure additional construction aggregates sales volumes and prices projected for the
Orca Quarry
The value and price of the Common Shares, the Company’s financial results, and the Company’s development and
quarrying activities may be significantly adversely affected if the Company does not secure the sales volumes and
prices of construction aggregates intended for the Orca Quarry. Demand for construction aggregates products in the
Company’s target markets fluctuates and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control such as
private sector residential and commercial construction, and public sector construction, including roads, bridges,
services, and other infrastructure. The supply of construction aggregates to the Company’s target markets may also
fluctuate and may be affected by new or expanded local production, or supplies of construction aggregates brought
into the target markets by road, rail or vessel. Depending on the sales volumes and prices of construction aggregates,
cash flow from quarrying operations may not be sufficient and the Company could be forced to discontinue production
and may lose its interest in, or may be forced to sell, some or all of its properties. Future production from the Company’s
Orca Quarry is dependent on applicable construction aggregates sales volumes and prices being sufficient to make
materials extraction from the Orca Quarry economic.
In addition to adversely affecting the Company’s financial condition, declining construction aggregates sales volumes
and prices can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility of the Orca Quarry. Such a
reassessment may be the result of a management decision or may be required under financing arrangements related
to the Orca Quarry. The need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt
operations until the reassessment can be completed.
The assumptions made in AMEC’s financial analysis of the Orca Project may no longer be reasonable
The financial analysis completed by AMEC of the Orca Project detailed in the 43-101 technical report relies on certain
underlying assumptions which may no longer be reasonable as a result of the global economic recession since 2008.
The analysis undertaken by AMEC was completed in 2008. The cash flow projections were based on various
assumptions including assumptions on the capital costs, operating costs, production and sales volumes and sales
revenues over the life of the project which were reasonable at the time the financial analysis was completed. Since
2008, the actual sales values suggest that these assumptions made may no longer be reasonable. Therefore, undue
reliance should not be given to AMEC’s financial analysis of the Orca Project.
The Company must secure access to discharge points and additional shipping volumes for its products
The Company’s business plan includes discharges of Orca Quarry construction aggregates to barges, the Richmond
Terminal and to Cemex through its Strategic Alliance with Cemex. Although the Company has access to certain
terminals through its Strategic Alliance, there is no certainty that its strategic alliance will secure further joint terminals
to meet the increasing deliveries and sales incorporated by the Company in its business plan. If the Company is unable
to continue to secure access to additional discharge terminals, or acquire its own discharge terminals, its revenues,
operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
Polaris, through a subsidiary Quality Rock Holdings Ltd, and subsidiaries of the Hupacasath and the Ucluelet, First
Nations, executed a shareholders’ agreement (the “Eagle Rock Shareholders Agreement”) governing the affairs of
Eagle Rock Materials Ltd. When the Eagle Rock Shareholders Agreement was entered into in 2002, it did not
contemplate the construction or use of the Richmond Terminal or other terminals by third parties (including the Orca
Partnership) prior to the construction of the Eagle Rock Quarry Project. In addition, the Eagle Rock Shareholders
Agreement did not contemplate the marketing, shipment and sale of construction aggregates from other projects prior
to the commencement of operations at the Eagle Rock Quarry Project. Eagle Rock Aggregates, Inc., a subsidiary of
Eagle Rock Materials Ltd., holds the Richmond Terminal Lease, the building permit for the Richmond Terminal, the
corresponding easement and facilities use agreements, and the Company’s other potential port interests. Eagle Rock
Aggregates, Inc. also holds the marketing interests of the Company and it is expected that it will continue to manage
the Company’s operations in the United States, including the shipment and sale of construction aggregates from the
Orca Quarry.
The parties to the Eagle Rock Shareholders Agreement have been negotiating and will continue to negotiate the terms
and conditions of an arrangement with respect to Eagle Rock Aggregates, Inc. and the financing, construction, and
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operation of the Richmond Terminal, and the purchase, shipping, distribution and sales of construction aggregates from
the Orca Partnership. There is no certainty when or if an agreement will be reached.
The Company’s amended NCoA secures sufficient volume capacity to transport approximately 3.27 million short tons
of construction aggregates per annum. To achieve the anticipated sales from the Orca Quarry and the Eagle Rock
Quarry Project, the Company will have to secure additional shipping capacity. If the Company is unable to secure the
additional shipping volumes, or fails to meet the contracted annual minimum volumes, its revenues, operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
The quarrying industry is competitive
The quarrying industry is competitive and the Company faces strong competition from other quarrying companies, or
prospective quarrying companies, in connection with the supply of construction aggregates to the Company’s target
markets. A number of these companies may have greater financial resources, operational experience and technical
capabilities than the Company. As a result of this competition, the Company may be unable to maintain quarrying
operations on terms it considers acceptable or at all. Consequently, the Company’s revenues, operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.
Government regulation and assessments may adversely affect the Company
The Company’s construction aggregates quarrying, processing, and development activities are subject to extensive
laws governing prospecting, quarrying, development, production, taxes, labour standards and occupational health,
quarry safety, waste disposal, toxic substances, land use, environmental protection and remediation, endangered and
protected species, water use, aboriginal rights, land claims of First Nations and local people and other matters. No
assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not
be applied in a manner which could limit, curtail or prevent production, development or exploration. Amendments to
current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of quarrying and exploration companies, or
more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Company and cause increases in
exploration expenses, capital expenditures or production costs or reduction in levels of production at producing
properties or require abandonment or delays in development of new quarrying properties. Failure to comply with the
conditions set out in any permit or failure to comply with the applicable statutes and regulations may result in orders to
cease or curtail production, development or exploration.
The Company’s title to its properties may be subject to disputes or other claims including land title claims of
First Nations
Although the Company has exercised the usual due diligence with respect to determining title to properties in which it
has a material interest, there is no guarantee that title to such properties will not be challenged or impugned. Title to
and the area of resource claims may be disputed. The Company’s construction aggregates property interests may be
subject to prior unregistered agreements or transfers, aboriginal rights, or, in the case of the Orca Quarry, treaty rights,
and title may be affected by undetected defects. There may be valid challenges to the title of the Company’s properties,
which, if successful, could impair their development and/or operations.
First Nations in British Columbia have made claims of aboriginal rights and title to substantial portions of land and water
in the Province including areas where the Company’s operations are situated, creating uncertainty as to the status of
competing property rights. The Supreme Court of Canada has held that aboriginal groups may have a spectrum of
aboriginal rights in lands that have been traditionally used or occupied by their ancestors; however, such aboriginal
rights or title are not absolute and may be infringed by government in furtherance of a legislative objective, subject to
meeting a justification test. However, a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada casts doubt on the Provincial
Government’s ability to justify infringements of treaty rights. Additionally, a case from the British Columbia Supreme
Court calls into question whether the Province can justify an infringement of aboriginal title. The effect on any particular
lands will not be determinable until the exact nature of historical use, occupancy and rights in any particular piece of
property have been clarified. First Nations are seeking settlements including compensation from governments with
respect to these claims, and the effect of these claims cannot be estimated at this time. The Federal Government and
Provincial Government have been seeking to negotiate settlements with aboriginal groups throughout British Columbia
in order to resolve many of these claims. Any settlements that may result from these negotiations may involve a
combination of cash, resources, grants of conditional rights to gather food on public lands, and some rights of selfgovernment. The issues surrounding aboriginal title and rights are not likely to be resolved by the Federal Government
or Provincial Government in the near future.
In a landmark decision in 2004, the Supreme Court of Canada determined that there is a duty on government to consult
with and, where appropriate, accommodate First Nations where government decisions may impact on claimed, but as
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yet unproven, aboriginal rights or title. This decision also provided much needed clarification of the duties of consultation
and accommodation. The Court found that third parties are not responsible for consultation or accommodation of
aboriginal interests and that this responsibility lies with government. However, government permits, including
environmental and mine permits, will not be granted by provincial and federal agencies unless they are satisfied that
the duty to consult and accommodate has been fully met. In 2005, the Supreme Court of Canada confirmed this duty
exists with respect to claimed treaty rights. A decision of the Supreme Court of Canada casts doubt on the Provincial
Government’s ability to justify infringements of treaty rights.
The Tseshaht First Nation has asserted traditional rights and title over the Eagle Rock Quarry Project site. The
Hupacasath First Nation and the Ucluelet First Nation, who are shareholders of Eagle Rock Materials Ltd., have also
asserted traditional rights and title over the Eagle Rock Quarry Project site. The Company has agreed, pursuant to the
Eagle Rock Shareholders Agreement, to seek the participation of the Tseshaht in the Eagle Rock Quarry Project. The
Company has been engaged in negotiations with the Tseshaht, however, to date there has been no agreement with
respect to any participation. The terms of any participation have not been agreed upon, and the Tseshaht may,
therefore, seek to dispute the Company’s title in the Eagle Rock Quarry Project, despite the fact that the Company has
received the environmental assessment certificate for the Eagle Rock Quarry Project. Any such dispute could delay or,
if resolved in a manner adverse to the Company, impair the development and operation of the Eagle Rock Quarry
Project.
Quarrying involves a degree of risk
Quarrying operations involve a degree of risk. The Company’s operations will be subject to all the hazards and risks
normally encountered in the development and production of construction aggregates, including, without limitation,
unusual and unexpected geologic formations, seismic activity, pit-wall failures, cave-ins, flooding and other conditions
involved in the extraction of material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, quarries and other
producing facilities, damage to life or property, environmental damage and legal liability. In addition to these risks stated
above, processing operations are subject to various hazards, including, without limitation, equipment failure, labour
disputes and industrial accidents. Should any of these risks occur, it may result in increased cost of production, delays,
write-down of an industrial property, work stoppages, legal liability or injury or death to personnel, all of which may have
an adverse effect on the Company’s operations and financial condition.
Construction aggregates resources are estimates only
There is no certainty that the construction aggregates resource represented at the Company’s properties will be realized
or that such resource can be economically quarried. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have
demonstrated economic viability. Until a deposit is actually mined and processed, the quantity of construction
aggregates resources must be considered as estimates only. There is a risk that the actual deposits encountered and
the economic viability of the deposits may differ materially from the resource estimates. Any material change in quantity
of construction aggregates resources may affect the economic viability of the Company’s properties.
The volume of construction aggregates quarried and processed may not be the same as currently anticipated in the
Company’s resource estimates. Any material reductions in estimates of construction aggregates resources, or of the
Company’s ability to extract these construction aggregates, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
results of operations and financial condition.
Currency fluctuations may adversely affect the Company’s revenues
The effects on financial performance and cash flows from the Canadian dollar foreign exchange rate versus the U.S.
dollar are significant. The Company does not enter into hedging contracts in connection with foreign currencies.
Changes in the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar could materially affect the Company’s U.S. dollar-reported
operational profitability and financial condition.
The Company currently depends on a single property
The Company’s only material mineral producing property is the East Cluxewe Deposit. Unless the Company acquires
or develops additional material properties or projects, the Company will be solely dependent upon the operation of the
Orca Quarry for its revenue and profits, if any.
The actual costs of reclamation are uncertain
The actual costs of reclamation included in the Company’s plan for the Orca Quarry are estimates only and may not
represent the actual amounts required to complete all reclamation activity. It is not possible to determine the exact
amount that will be required, and the amount that the Company is required to spend could be materially different than
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current estimates. Reclamation bonds or other forms of financial assurance represent only a portion of the total amount
of money that will be spent on reclamation over the life of the operation of the Orca Quarry. Although the Company has
included estimated reclamation amounts in its plan for the Orca Quarry, it may be necessary to revise the planned
expenditures, and the operating plan for the Orca Quarry, in order to fund required reclamation activities. Any additional
amounts required to be spent on reclamation may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations.
The Company will require other construction aggregates resources in the future
According to the 43-101 technical report for the Orca Quarry Project, the Orca Quarry has an estimated quarry life of
17 years, which may not prove to be accurate. Because quarries have limited lives based on proven and probable
construction aggregates reserves, in the longer term, the Company will have to replace and expand its construction
aggregates resources as the Orca Quarry depletes. The Company’s ability to maintain or increase its annual production
of construction aggregates will be dependent almost entirely on its ability to bring new quarries into production.
There is, however, a risk that depletion of reserves will not be offset by future discoveries of mineral reserves.
Exploration for minerals is highly speculative in nature and the projects involve many risks. Many projects are
unsuccessful and there are no assurances that current or future exploration programs will be successful. Further,
significant costs are incurred to establish mineral reserves and to construct mining and processing facilities.
Development projects have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future cash flow and are subject to
the successful completion of feasibility studies, obtaining necessary government permits, obtaining title or other land
rights and availability of financing. In addition, assuming discovery of an economic reserve, depending on the type of
mining operation involved, many years may elapse from the initial phases of drilling until commercial operations are
commenced. Accordingly, there can be no assurances that the Company’s current work programs will result in any
new commercial mining operations or yield new reserves to replace and/or expand current reserves.
The Company’s operations are subject to environmental risks
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to Federal, Provincial and local environmental regulation in the
various jurisdictions in which it operates which could potentially make operations expensive or prohibit them all together.
These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality standards and land
reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and
hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and
enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of
proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees.
There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s
operations or prevent operations all together. Environmental hazards may exist on the properties on which the
Company holds and will hold interests which are unknown to the Company at present and which have been caused by
previous or existing owners or operators of the properties.
Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future be, required in connection with the Company’s
operations, which could potentially make operations expensive or prohibit them altogether. To the extent such future
approvals are required and not obtained, the Company may be curtailed or prohibited from restarting or continuing its
quarrying operations or from proceeding with planned exploration or development of construction aggregates
properties.
Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions
thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and
may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial
actions. Parties engaged in quarrying operations or in the development of construction aggregates properties may be
required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the quarrying activities and may have civil or
criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations.
The Company does not insure against all risks
The Company’s insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with a quarrying company’s operations. The
Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance
coverage may not continue to be available or may not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance
against risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration and production is not generally
available to the Company or to other companies in the quarrying industry on acceptable terms. The Company might
also become subject to liability for environmental occurrences pollution or other hazards which may not be insured
against or which the Company may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses
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from these events may cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its
financial condition and results of operations.
Certain groups are opposed to quarrying
In North America there are organizations opposed to quarrying, particularly open pit quarries such as the Orca Quarry
and the Eagle Rock Quarry Project. The Company believes it has the support of representatives from the community
and First Nation groups nearest these quarries and from various levels of government in British Columbia having
jurisdiction over these quarries. Although the Company believes that it is complying with all environmental laws and
permitting obligations in conducting its business, there is a risk that those opposed to its operation at these quarries
will attempt to interfere with the Company’s operations, whether by legal process, regulatory process or otherwise.
Such interference could have an impact on the Company’s ability to operate its properties in the manner that is most
efficient or appropriate, if at all, and any such impact could materially adversely affect the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
The Company is dependent on its key personnel
The Company is dependent upon certain of its executive management team. The loss of the services of its executive
officers could have a material adverse effect on the Company. The Company’s ability to manage its development and
operating activities, and hence its success, will depend in large part on the efforts of its executive officers and other
members of management of the Company. The Company faces intense competition for qualified personnel, and there
can be no assurance that it will be able to attract and retain such personnel. The Company does not yet have in place
formal programs for succession or training of management.
The Company’s growth will require new personnel
The Company initially experienced significant growth in its number of employees as a result of the development of its
construction aggregate production and marine export business and may experience significant growth in the future as
the Company develops its aggregate resource. The Company will be required to recruit additional personnel and to
train, motivate and manage its employees. The Company may also have to adopt and implement new systems in all
aspects of its operations. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to recruit or retain personnel
required to execute its programs or to manage these changes successfully.
The Company may not meet minimum freight contract volumes
The Company’s freight contract, which was again amended and restated in December 2013, provides for minimum
annual volumes of construction aggregates. If the Company is unable to secure sufficient sales volumes to meet those
minimum freight volumes, its revenues, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
Eagle Rock Quarry Project Royalty Assessment
The Company has received a royalty assessment from the British Columbia Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural
Resource Operations for overdue royalties of CAD$456,000 for 2012 and CAD$496,000 for 2013, in respect of the
Company’s quarrying lease for the Eagle Rock Quarry project (“ERQ project”) located on the Alberni Inlet to the south
of the City of Port Alberni, British Columbia. The Company is disputing the assessment. The Company has not
recorded a provision for the royalties. The amount of any payment, if required, is currently uncertain and it may be
necessary to record a provision in future periods. There can be no assurance that the Company’s position will prevail.
The Company’s directors and officers may have conflicts of interest
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company also serve as directors, officers and/or significant shareholders of
other companies involved in natural resource exploration and development and consequently there exists the possibility
for such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict.
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Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures (“DC&P”) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required
to be disclosed is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in accordance with
the Canadian securities legislation, and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
As at December 31, 2014, an evaluation of the design and effectiveness of the Company’s DC&P was carried out under
the supervision and with the participation of management including its certifying officers. Based on that evaluation, the
Company’s certifying officers concluded that the design and operation of the Company’s DC&P were effective as at
December 31, 2014 and would provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by others within those entities during the period in which the
annual filings were prepared, and that information required to be disclosed by the Company would be recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the applicable securities legislation.
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (“ICFR”) is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS. ICFR can only provide
reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of an evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate due to changes in conditions, or that the
degree or compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate. As at December 31, 2014, an evaluation of
the design and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting was carried out under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management including its certifying officers. This evaluation
included confirmation of the Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) control framework (2013) used to design the ICFR. Based on
the evaluation, the CEO and CFO found the Company’s ICFR to be effective. During the year ended December 31,
2014, there were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting. Based on their inherent
limitation, disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements, errors or fraud. Control systems, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control systems are met.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis release contains “forward-looking statements” and “forward-looking
information” within the meaning of applicable securities laws. These statements and information appear in a number
of places in this document and include estimates, forecasts, information and statements as to management’s
expectations with respect to, among other things the future financial or operating performance of the Company, costs
and timing of the development of the construction aggregate quarry, the timing and amount of estimated future
production, costs of production, capital and operating expenditures, requirements for additional capital, government
regulation of quarrying operations, environmental risks, reclamation expenses, and title disputes. Often, but not always,
forward-looking statements and information can be identified by the use of words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “plans”,
“expects”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “budget”, and “scheduled” or the negative thereof or variations thereon or
similar terminology. Forward-looking statements and information are necessarily based upon a number of estimates
and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by management, are inherently subject to significant business,
economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies. Readers are cautioned that any such forward-looking
statements and information are not guarantees and there can be no assurance that such statements and information
will prove to be accurate and actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such
statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations are
disclosed under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” in the Company’s Annual Report and under the heading “Risk
Factors” in the Company’s Annual Information Form (AIF) in respect of its financial year-ended December 31, 2014,
both of which are filed with Canadian regulators on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). The Company expressly disclaims any
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements and information whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. All written and oral forward-looking statements and information attributable to
us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the foregoing cautionary statements.
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Other Information
Additional information related to the Company is available for viewing on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and at the
Company’s website at www.polarmin.com.

Glossary of Terms
Ton – the unit of weight used in the US consisting of 2,000 imperial pounds, often referred to as a ‘Short Ton’.
Metric Tonne – a unit of weight commonly used in Canada and worldwide in shipping operations consisting of 1,000
kilograms (2,205 imperial pounds).
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(U.S. dollars)
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The consolidated financial statements of Polaris Materials Corporation have been prepared by and are the responsibility of the
board of directors and management of the Company. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and reflect
management’s best estimates and judgement based on currently available information. Management has developed and
maintains a system of internal controls to provide assurance, on a reasonable and cost effective basis, that the Company’s
assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorized and financial information is accurate and reliable.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting of three independent directors, meets periodically with management
and the independent auditors to review the scope and results of the annual audit, and to review the financial statements and
related financial reporting matters prior to submitting the financial statements to the Board for approval.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the Company’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, who are appointed by the shareholders. Their report outlines the scope of their audit and gives their opinion on the
consolidated financial statements.

“Herbert Wilson”
Herbert Wilson
President and Chief Executive Officer

“Darren McDonald”
Darren McDonald
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
March 5, 2015
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March 5, 2015
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Polaris Materials Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Polaris Materials Corporation,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 and the consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, changes in equity and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Polaris Materials Corporation as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
[/signed] PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806, www.pwc.com/ca
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Polaris Materials Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(thousands of U.S. dollars)
December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

$

14,231
6,156
2,659
432

9,385
4,000
276
2,698
368

23,478

16,727

973
59,427

1,190
60,654

83,878

78,571

3,640
16
418
379

4,031
651
289

4,453

4,971

865
898
3,211

530
867
3,141

9,427

9,509

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (note 4)
Current tax assets
Inventories (note 5)
Other current assets
Non-current assets
Financial assets (note 6)
Property, plant and equipment (note 7)

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 8)
Current tax liabilities
Current portion of finance leases (note 9)
Current portion of property tax provision (note 10)
Non-current liabilities
Finance leases (note 9)
Property tax provision (note 10)
Restoration provision (note 11)

Equity
Share capital (note 12)
Contributed surplus (note 13)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deficit

188,377
23,828
(4,846)
(128,134)

172,517
22,418
(136)
(121,448)

Non-controlling interest (note 14)

79,225
(4,774)

73,351
(4,289)

Total equity

74,451

69,062

83,878

78,571

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

Subsequent events (note 13)
Commitments and contingent liabilities (note 21)

Approved by the Board of Directors
“Lenard Boggio”
Lenard Boggio, Director

“Herbert Wilson”
Herbert Wilson, Director

– See Accompanying Notes –
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Polaris Materials Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Loss
For the years end December 31, 2014 and 2013
(thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts)

Sales
Cost of goods sold (note 15)
Gross profit

2014
$

2013
$

45,241

44,893

(44,048)

(44,869)

1,193

Selling, general and administrative expenses (note 15)

(6,571)

24
(5,364)

Foreign exchange gain

512

161

Property holding costs

(898)

(591)

Property tax provision (note 10)

(568)

(1,535)

Other gains (losses)

(505)

Loss before interest and income taxes
Finance income
Finance expense (note 16)
Finance charges

(7,084)

(6,837)

(7,060)

103

49

(210)

(714)

-

Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense (note 18)

Net loss for the year

245

(8,030)

(870)

(107)

(1,535)

(6,944)

(8,595)

(15)

(40)

(6,959)

(8,635)

(6,685)

(8,208)

Net loss attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

(274)

(427)

(6,959)

(8,635)

(0.08)

(0.11)

84,144

73,648

Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted loss per common share
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

– See Accompanying Notes –
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Polaris Materials Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years end December 31, 2014 and 2013
(thousands of US dollars)

Net loss for the year

2014
$

2013
$

(6,959)

(8,635)

Other comprehensive (loss) income – Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss
Foreign currency translation

Comprehensive loss for the year

(4,922)

(2,417)

(11,881)

(11,052)

(11,396)

(10,452)

Comprehensive loss attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

(485)

(600)

(11,881)

(11,052)

Polaris Materials Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except number of common shares)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Accumulated
Number of Amount of
other
Noncommon
common Contributed comprehensive
Shareholders’ controlling
shares
shares
surplus income (loss)
Deficit
equity
interest
(000’s)
$
$
$
$
$
$
December 31, 2012

66,746

156,772

21,347

Common shares issued

13,225

14,970

-

-

-

-

376

-

-

376

-

376

(205)

-

-

570

-

570

Warrants issued
Warrants exercised
Share-based employee
benefits
Other comprehensive loss
Net loss
December 31, 2013
Common shares issued

425

775

-

-

900

-

-

-

-

-

80,396

172,517

6,785

15,075

2,109

-

-

66,988

-

14,970

-

(2,245)
-

22,418

(113,240)

(136)

-

900
(2,245)

(8,208)

(8,208)

(121,448)

73,351

(3,690)

Total
$

-

(172)
(427)
(4,289)

63,298
14,970

900
(2,417)
(8,635)
69,062

-

-

-

15,075

-

15,075

-

-

202

-

-

202

-

202

Warrants exercised
Share-based employee
benefits

236

420

(126)

-

-

294

-

294

-

-

-

-

1,476

-

1,476

Options exercised

248

365

(142)

-

-

-

(212)

(4,922)

Warrants issued

Other comprehensive loss
Net loss
December 31, 2014

87,665

188,377

1,476

223
(4,710)

-

-

23,828

(4,846)

– See Accompanying Notes –

28

(6,686)
(128,134)

(4,710)
(6,686)
79,225

223
(273)
(4,774)

(6,959)
74,451

Polaris Materials Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years end December 31, 2014 and 2013
(thousands of US dollars)

2014
$

2013
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Amortization, depletion and accretion
Share-based employee benefits
Unrealized foreign exchange gain
Interest
Loss on settlement of long term debt
Property tax provision (note 10)
Other (gains) losses

(6,959)
4,457
1,470
(632)
529
125

(8,635)
4,495
900
(150)
630
767
1,156
(15)

Changes in non-cash working capital items (note 19)

(1,010)
(2,763)

(852)
(510)

(3,773)

(1,362)

15,789
(346)

15,877
(630)
(7,669)
(428)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of common shares (net of issue costs)
Interest paid
Repayment of principal on credit facility and senior secured notes
Finance lease payments

15,443
Cash flows from investing activities
Property, plant and equipment purchases

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash

7,150

(5,354)

(1,683)

(5,354)

(1,683)

(1,470)

(257)

Increase in cash

4,846

3,848

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

9,385

5,537

14,231

9,385

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year
Supplemental cash flow information (note 19)

– See Accompanying Notes –
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(U.S dollars, except where noted)
1.

Nature and description of the Company
Polaris Materials Corporation (“the Company”), formerly Polaris Minerals Corporation, was incorporated on May 14, 1999 and is both
incorporated and domiciled in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered office is Suite 2740 - 1055 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, B.C., V6E 3R5. The Company’s focus is threefold: the production, distribution and sales of aggregates from the Orca Quarry;
the development of new aggregate marine terminals along the west coast of North America; and the development of additional aggregate
quarries.

2.

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The Company has consistently applied the same accounting policies in all periods presented except as disclosed in note 3.
These financial statements were approved by the board of directors for issue on March 5, 2015.

3.

Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial instruments classified as fair value through
profit or loss, which are stated at their fair value.
Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and the entities controlled by the Company.
Control is defined as the exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with an investee and the ability to affect those returns
through power over the investee. Power over an investee exists when we have existing rights that give us the ability to direct the activities
that significantly affect the investee’s returns. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those of the Company.
Inter-company balances and transactions, including any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
New and amended standards adopted
The accounting policies followed in these condensed consolidated interim financial statements are consistent with those of the previous
financial year, except as described below.
The Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, along with any consequential amendments, effective January 1,
2014.
i.

IFRIC 21, Accounting for Levies imposed by Governments, clarifies that the obligating event giving rise to a liability to pay a levy is
the activity described in the relevant legislation that triggers payment of the levy. These changes do not result in any adjustments
by the Company.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”). The subsidiaries and the
Company’s ownership interests therein, are as follows:
Ownership
Company
Location
interest
Status
Eagle Rock Materials Ltd.
Canada
70 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Eagle Rock Aggregates, Inc.
United States
70 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Quality Rock Holdings Ltd.
Canada
100 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Polaris Aggregates Inc.
United States
100 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Orca Sand & Gravel Limited Partnership
Canada
88 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Orca Sand & Gravel Ltd.
Canada
88 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Quality Sand & Gravel Ltd.
Canada
100 %
Consolidated subsidiary
5329 Investments Ltd. (1)
Canada
100 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Orca Finance Ltd. (2)
Canada
100 %
Consolidated subsidiary
United States
100 %
Consolidated subsidiary
Polaris Materials Inc.(3)
(1)
(2)
(3)

5329 Investments Ltd. was dissolved by a vertical amalgamation into Quality Sand & Gravel Ltd. in 2014.
Orca Finance Ltd. was dissolved in 2013.
Polaris Materials Inc. was dissolved in 2014.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its accounting policies and estimates and
assumptions about the future. Estimates and other judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience
and other factors, including expectations about future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The following
discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates that the company has made in the preparation of the financial
statements:
(i) Determination of mineral reserves
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the Company’s properties. In
order to estimate reserves, estimates are required about a range of geological, technical and economic factors, including quantities,
production techniques, production costs, capital costs, transport costs, demand, prices and exchange rates. Estimating the quantity
of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of deposits to be determined by analyzing geological data. This process may require
complex and difficult geological judgments to interpret the data. Changes in estimates of proven and probable reserves may impact
the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, restoration provisions, recognition of deferred tax amounts and depreciation,
depletion and amortization.
(ii) Asset values and impairment charges
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement
of income (loss). When necessary, management’s determination of recoverable amounts include estimates of sales volumes and
prices, costs of disposal, recoverable reserves, operating costs and capital costs, which are subject to certain risks and uncertainties
that may affect the recoverability of an asset’s costs. Although management has made its best estimate of these factors, it is possible
that changes could occur that could adversely affect management’s estimate of the net cash flow to be generated from its assets or
cash-generating units.
For quarrying property interests the Company considers both external and internal sources of information in assessing whether there
are any indications of impairment. External sources of information the Company considers include changes in the market, economic
and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within its control and affect the recoverable amount of quarrying
property interests. Internal sources of information the Company considers include indications of economic performance of the assets.
In determining the recoverable amounts of the Company’s quarrying property interests, the Company’s management makes estimates
of the discounted future after-tax cash flows expected to be derived from the Company’s properties, costs of disposal of the quarrying
properties and the appropriate discount rate. Reductions in price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of production,
increases in estimated future non-expansionary capital expenditures, reductions in the amount of recoverable reserves and resources,
and/or adverse current economics can result in a write-down of the carrying amounts of the Company’s quarrying interests.
(iii) Estimated Reclamation and Closure Costs
The Company’s provision for reclamation and closure cost obligations represents management’s best estimate of the present value
of the future cash outflows required to settle the liability which reflects estimates of future costs, inflation assumptions about risks
associated with the future cash outflows, and the applicable risk-free interest rates for discounting the future cash outflows. Changes
in the above factors can result in a change to the provision recognized by the Company. Changes to reclamation and closure cost
obligations are recorded with a corresponding change to the carrying amounts of related quarrying properties. Adjustments to the
carrying amounts of related quarrying properties can result in a change to future depletion expense.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currency translation
The Company’s presentation currency is the United States dollar (“US dollar”). The functional currency of the Company and for each
subsidiary of the Company is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates.
The functional currency of aggregate sales and terminal operations is the US dollar. The Company translates non-US dollar balances for
these operations into US dollars as follows:
(i) Property, plant and equipment using historical rates;
(ii) Other assets and liabilities using the closing exchange rate as at the balance sheet date with translation gains and losses recorded in
net income for the period; and
(iii) Income and expenses using the average exchange rate for the period, except for expenses that relate to nonmonetary assets and
liabilities measured at historical
The functional currency of the quarrying operations and the corporate head office is the Canadian dollar. The Company translates these
operations into US dollars as follows:
(i) Assets and liabilities using the closing exchange rate as at the balance sheet date with translation gains and losses recorded in other
comprehensive income; and
(ii) Income and expenses using the average exchange rate for the period with translation gains and losses recorded in other
comprehensive income
Inventories
Construction aggregates inventory is stated at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Cost for construction aggregates
inventory is determined on an average cost basis. Such costs include fuel, freight in, depreciation, depletion, repair parts and supplies,
raw materials, direct labour and production overhead. Consumable supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs
for consumable supplies are determined on a first-in, first-out basis.
When inventories have been written down to net realizable value (“NRV”), the Company makes a new assessment of NRV in each
subsequent period. If circumstances that caused the write-down no longer exist, the remaining amount of the write-down is reversed.
Property, plant and equipment
Expenditures incurred to develop new aggregate properties or marine receiving terminals are capitalized. Costs are written down to the
recoverable amount if impaired, or written off if the property or interest is sold, allowed to lapse or abandoned.
Developed property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and depletion and accumulated impairment.
Capitalized costs for quarries are depleted using a unit of production method over the estimated economic life of the quarry to which they
relate following the commencement of operations. Capitalized costs for marine receiving terminals are amortized over the useful lives of
the underlying interests following the commencement of operations. Depreciation related to production is included in Cost of goods sold.
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated or depleted over its estimated useful life using the following rates:
Quarry property costs
Property, plant & equipment
Equipment under finance lease
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements

Units of production
3 to 25 years
10 years
3 to 10 years
Life of lease

The cost of equipment held under finance leases is equal to the lower of the net present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair
value of the leased property at the inception of the lease and is amortized over the term of the lease, except when there is reasonable
certainty that the leased assets will be purchased at the end of the lease, in which case they are amortized over the estimated useful life.
Equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, is recognized in statement of income (loss).
Where an item of plant and equipment comprises significant components with different useful lives, the components are accounted for as
separate items of plant and equipment. Expenditures incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is
accounted for separately, including major inspection and overhaul expenditures are capitalized.
Useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reassessed annually for all property, plant and equipment with the impact of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of long-lived assets
At each financial position reporting date the carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and the value in
use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Future cash
flows are based on expected future production, estimated aggregate prices, and estimated operating, capital, and reclamation costs.
Assumptions underlying future cash flow estimates are subject to risks and uncertainties. Any differences between significant assumptions
used and actual market conditions and/or the Company’s performance could have a material effect on the Company’s financial position
and results of operations.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income (loss) for the period. For the purposes of impairment
testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates. For an asset that
does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognized immediately in the statement of income (loss).
Restoration Provisions
The Company recognizes liabilities for statutory, contractual, legal or constructive obligations associated with the retirement of property,
plant and equipment. The Company records the present value of any environmental rehabilitation and decommissioning costs as a longterm liability in the period in which the related environmental disturbance occurs, based on the net present value of the estimated future
costs that are required by current legal and regulatory requirements. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation are used to calculate the net present value. The net present value of future rehabilitation
cost estimates arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work is capitalized to quarrying assets along with a
corresponding increase in the rehabilitation provision in the period incurred. The rehabilitation asset is depreciated on the same basis as
quarrying assets.
The liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to profit or loss and it is reduced by actual costs of decommissioning and
reclamation. The present value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the capitalized mineral property. This capitalized amount
will be amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset. The obligation is adjusted at the end of each fiscal period to reflect the
passage of time and changes in the estimated future costs underlying the obligation.
Provisions
Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it is probable that an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made.
Share based payments
The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for all stock option awards to employees and others providing similar services.
Under this method the Company recognizes a compensation expense for all share options awarded based on the fair value of the options
on the date of grant. The fair value is determined by using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of all share options
granted, and estimated to eventually vest, is recorded, over the vesting period, as a charge to the statement of income (loss) and a credit
to contributed surplus. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is charged to the statement of income (loss) such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus. Consideration paid on exercise of share
options in addition to the fair value attributed to stock options granted is credited to share capital.
Income taxes
Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement
of income (loss) except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.
Current income taxes are calculated based on taxable income for the current year at enacted or substantially enacted statutory tax rates.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method of accounting. Temporary differences arising from the difference between
the tax basis of an asset or liability and its carrying amount on the balance sheet are used to calculate deferred income tax liabilities or
assets. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to apply when the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.
Temporary differences are not provided for the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit at
the time of the transaction; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is not probable that they will reverse
in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Financial instruments
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following four categories:
i.

Held to maturity - measured at amortized cost.

ii.

Available-for-sale - measured at fair value.

iii.

Loans and receivables - measured at amortized cost.

iv.

Fair-value-through-profit-or-loss (“FVTPL”) - measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized through statement of
income (loss).

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive
income (loss) except for impairment losses. Interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses
on monetary items, will be recognised in profit and loss. Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as
incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset. Cash,
trade and other receivables and security deposits are designated as loans and receivables.
All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPL or other financial liabilities. Financial
liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial
recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective
interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial
liability. The Company’s trade and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities.
Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of construction aggregates, net of any discounts, is recognized on the sale of products at the time the Company
has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership; the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; the amount of revenue can be measured
reliability; it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and the costs incurred or to be
incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The calculation
of diluted earnings per share assumes that outstanding options and warrants are exercised and the proceeds are used to repurchase
shares of the Company at the average market price of the shares for the period. The effect is to increase the number of shares used to
calculate diluted earnings per share and is only recognized when the effect is dilutive.

34

Polaris Materials Corporation
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(U.S dollars, except where noted)
3.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted
Unless otherwise noted, the following revised standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2014.
(i) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009 and addresses classification and measurement of financial assets. It
replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having
only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity
instruments. Such instruments are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Where equity instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividends are recognized in profit
or loss to the extent that they do not clearly represent a return of investment; however, other gains and losses (including impairments)
associated with such instruments remain in accumulated comprehensive income indefinitely. Requirements for financial liabilities
were added to IFRS 9 in October 2010 and they largely carried forward existing requirements in IAS 39, Financial Instruments –
Recognition and Measurement, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit
and loss are generally recorded in other comprehensive income. IFRS 9 was amended In November 2013, to (i) include guidance on
hedge accounting, (ii) allow entities to early adopt the requirement to recognize changes in fair value attributable to changes in an
entity’s own credit risk, from financial liabilities designated under the fair value option, in OCI (without having to adopt the remainder
of IFRS 9) and (iii) remove the previous mandatory effective date of January 1, 2015. The July 2014 publication of IFRS 9 is the
completed version of the Standard, replacing earlier versions of IFRS 9 and superseding the guidance relating to the classification
and measurement of financial instruments in IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39). The completed
version of IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company
is currently assessing the effect of this standard on our financial statements.
(ii) In May 2014, the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) completed their joint project to clarify the principles for
recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard for IFRS and United States Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (US GAAP). As a result of the joint project, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15)
to replace IAS 18, Revenue and IAS 11, Construction Contracts and the related interpretations on revenue recognition.
The new revenue standard introduces a single, principles based, five-step model for the recognition of revenue when control of a good
or service is transferred to the customer. The five steps are identify the contract(s) with the customer, identify the performance
obligations in the contract, determine transaction price, allocate the transaction price and recognize revenue when the performance
obligation is satisfied. IFRS 15 also requires enhanced disclosures about revenue to help investors better understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts with customers and improves the comparability of revenue
from contracts with customers.
IFRS 15 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company is
currently assessing the effect of this standard on our financial statements.
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4.

Trade and other receivables
December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

$

5,951
3
38
164
6,156

3,869
3
57
71
4,000

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

$

2,349
310
2,659

2,461
237
2,698

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

(in thousands)
Trade receivables
Accrued interest
Other taxes receivable
Other receivables

5.

Inventories

(in thousands)
Construction aggregates
Components and consumable supplies

6.

Financial assets

(in thousands)

$

$

973

1,059

Loans and receivables measured at amortized cost:
Orca quarry security deposits
Other long-term receivables

-

Total financial assets

973

131
1,190

Orca Quarry security deposits
The Company maintains CAD$1,128,502 (December 31, 2013 - CAD$1,126,184) in interest-bearing term deposits for safekeeping
agreements required by performance bonds on the Orca Quarry. The deposits are automatically renewed each year until returned to the
Company upon completion of the performance bond, as such, their carrying value approximates fair value. As at December 31, 2014,
deposits earn interest at a rate of 0.35% to 1.25% (December 31, 2013 - 0.35% to 1.25%).
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7.

Property, plant and equipment

(in thousands)

Orca Quarry

y

Richmond
Terminal l Head Office

Long
Beach
Terminal
Project t

Other
Terminal
Projects t

Exploration
properties

Property,
plant &
equipment

Office
equipment &
leasehold
improvement

Berth D-44
site
development
costs

Site
development
costs

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

5,385

1,223

27,041

Property,
plant &
equipment

Equipment
under
finance lease

$
Cost
January 1, 2013

47,414

Additions

1,057

1,056

Environmental rehabilitation
adjustments

(144)

-

Disposals

(449)

658

416

39

82,176

34

6

2

-

2,155

-

-

-

-

-

(144)

-

-

-

(3)

-

(930)

-

(478)

Foreign exchange

(3,825)

(365)

(91)

(48)

-

-

(4,329)

December 31, 2013

44,053

5,598

1,132

27,075

-

616

415

39

78,928

January 1, 2013

(8,297)

(2,829)

-

(4,620)

(578)

-

-

(16,324)

Depreciation

(2,522)

(551)

-

(1,239)

(30)

-

-

(4,342)

364

-

-

-

-

-

867

-

39

-

-

1,525

-

-

(18,274)

415

39

60,654

415

39

78,928

4,380

-

6,057

Accumulated
depreciation

Disposals

503
1,274

212

-

December 31, 2013

(9,042)

(2,804)

-

(5,859)

(569)

Carrying amount
December 31, 2013

35,011

2,794

1,132

21,216

47

44,053

5,598

1,132

27,075

616

1,114

517

-

3

255

-

-

-

Foreign exchange

Cost
January 1, 2014
Additions
Environmental rehabilitation
adjustments

43
-

-

255

-

-

(314)

-

-

(5,145)

39

79,781

(188)

(126)

-

-

Foreign exchange

(4,512)

(473)

(110)

-

December 31, 2014
Accumulated
depreciation

40,722

5,516

1,022

27,078

609

January 1, 2014

(9,042)

(2,804)

-

(5,859)

(569)

-

-

(18,274)

Depreciation

(2,532)

(570)

-

(1,246)

(32)

-

-

(4,380)

Disposals

-

-

(50)

4,795

188

122

-

-

-

-

-

310

1,669

273

-

-

48

-

-

1,990

December 31, 2014

(9,717)

(2,979)

-

(7,105)

(553)

-

-

(20,354)

Carrying amount
December 31, 2014

31,005

2,537

1,022

19,973

56

39

59,427

Disposals
Foreign exchange
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8.

Trade and other payables

(in thousands)
Trade payables
Accrued liabilities

9.

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

$

1,628
2,012
3,640

2,449
1,582
4,031

Finance leases
Included in property, plant and equipment is quarrying equipment that the Company has acquired pursuant to lease agreements. The
Company’s lease agreements terminate between February 2016 and September 2018. The quarrying equipment is the security for the
indebtedness.
In July 2014, the Company entered into a lease financing facility whereby the Company may draw up to CAD$1.2 million for the acquisition
of equipment at 4.71% interest for up to a maximum of four years from the acquisition date. Acquisitions of equipment under the facility
are accounted for as finance leases. Monthly payments are determined at drawdown and are fixed for the term of the lease. The
equipment is the security for the indebtedness. The Company has drawn CAD$623,387 for the acquisition of new screening equipment
and a jaw crusher with monthly payments of CAD$14,237. Additional draws are subject to the Company maintaining a minimum debt
service coverage ratio of no less than 1.2 times, tested quarterly on a building basis starting with the third quarter of 2014 and becoming
a rolling four quarter test at the end of the fourth quarter of 2015. Debt service coverage is defined as EBITDA/(Principal + Interest). The
Company currently does not meet the minimum ratio. Further draws are at the discretion of the lender.
In October 2014 the Company refinanced CAD$394,970 of leases on quarrying equipment at 5.95% interest. The new lease has been
accounted for as a finance lease and terminates October 2017. Monthly lease payments are CAD$11,948. The quarrying equipment is
the security for the indebtedness.
Future minimum lease payments are as follows:
(in thousands)

$

2014

(CAD$ 546)

470

2015

(CAD$ 383)

330

2016

(CAD$ 350)

302

2017

(CAD$ 320)

276

Total minimum lease payments

1,378

Less: Interest portion

95

Present value of capital lease obligations

10.

1,283

Less: current portion

418

Non-current portion

865

Property tax provision
In 2013 ERA received a payment demand, including penalties, for property tax dating back to 2008. Under the terms of its lease agreement
with Levin Terminals Inc. (“Levin”), ERA has paid its pro-rata share of property tax on the Richmond terminal land each year to Levin.
The County’s assessment was in regard to personal property taxes on the value of the building, leasehold improvements, and equipment
at the site. During 2013 the Company was successful in reducing the original assessment period from five years to four under a statute of
limitations applicable to the tax code and entered into an Escape Assessment Installment Plan (the “Plan”) with the County, whereby the
remaining outstanding balance of the taxes are payable in five annual installments commencing August 31, 2013. During 2014 the
Company withdrew its appeal seeking exclusion of costs originally included in the assessment and concluded a negotiated settlement for
the application of credits based on the past utilization of assets. During the 2014 the Company revised its provision for property taxes
owing by $568,000 to a total of $2.103 million, of which $1.535 has already been provided for. The liability at December 31, 2014 of
$1.277 million is net of amounts already paid. Of this amount $898,000 has been classified as a long-term liability based on the Plan
agreed with the County.
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11.

Restoration provision
The Company has restoration and decommissioning obligations associated with its operating quarry and processing plant. The following
table summarizes the movements in the provision for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:

(in thousands)
As at January 1
New or revised provisions
Accretion
Foreign exchange

2014

2013

$

$

3,141

3,429

255
85
(270)

As at December 31

3,211

(145)
81
(224)
3,141

The measurement of the liability assumes undiscounted estimated future cash flows needed to settle the liability of approximately
CAD$3.7 million. These amounts are expected to be expended throughout the quarry life to 2035.
These estimated future cash flows were discounted at a risk-free rate of 2.68% (2013 – 3.13%) after applying an inflation rate of 2.00%
(2013 - 2.04%).
12.

Share capital
The Company has unlimited common shares without par value. At December 31, 2014, there were 87,665,186 common shares issued
and outstanding (December 31, 2013 – 80,396,289).
During the year ended December 31, 2014, 248,334 common shares were issued between CAD$0.94 and CAD$1.56 on the exercise of
stock options for proceeds of CAD$244,801.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, 235,563 common shares were issued at CAD$1.31 on the exercise of warrants for proceeds
of CAD$308,588.
On June 27, 2014, the Company issued 6,785,000 common shares on a bought deal basis at CAD$2.57 each for gross proceeds of
CAD$17.4 million. Proceeds to the Company, after issue and transactions costs were CAD$16.3 million.

13.

Contributed surplus

(in thousands)
Share-based employee benefits
Warrants

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

$

$

16,668

15,340

7,160

7,078

23,828

22,418

Share-based employee benefits
The Company established an incentive stock option plan (“the Plan”) on April 23, 2001. The Board of Directors (“the Board”) determines
the exercise price of an option, but the price shall not be less than the closing price on the trading day immediately preceding the date it
is granted. Vesting and other terms are at the discretion of the Board. The Plan also prohibits the reduction of the exercise price of any
outstanding options without prior shareholder approval. The Board administers the Plan, whereby it may from time to time grant options
to directors, senior officers, employees, consultants, personal holding companies and certain registered plans. At December 31, 2014,
the maximum options to be allowed outstanding under the plan which comprise 10% of outstanding shares are 8,766,518 (December 31,
2013 – 8,039,629). All options are exercisable in Canadian dollars.

39

Polaris Materials Corporation
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(U.S dollars, except where noted)
13.

Contributed surplus (continued)
The Company’s stock options at December 31, 2014 and changes for the period are as follows:

Number
outstanding
At December 31, 2012
Granted
Forfeited
Expired
At December 31, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
At December 31, 2014

3,361,709
1,390,000
(30,000)
(672,500)
4,049,209
1,085,000
(248,334)
(3,333)
(147,500)
4,735,042

Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CAD$)
$5.84
$1.56
$1.29
$8.56
$3.95
$2.68
$0.99
$1.56
$3.60
$3.83

At December 31, 2014, the following stock options are outstanding and exercisable:
Options outstanding

Exercise
price
(CAD$)
$0.00 - $1.00
$1.01 - $2.00
$2.01 - $4.00
$4.01 - $6.00
$6.01 - $9.00
$9.01 - $13.75

Number of
options
outstanding
765,000
1,883,333
1,172,500
127,709
85,000
701,500
4,735,042

Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CAD$)
$0.94
$1.67
$2.78
$4.88
$8.69
$13.75
$3.83

Options exercisable
Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life
(years)
6.46
7.32
4.18
1.09
3.13
2.76
5.48

Number of
options
exercisable
765,000
1,408,335
449,164
127,709
85,000
701,500
3,536,708

Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CAD$)
$0.94
$1.70
$2.93
$4.88
$8.69
$13.75
$4.37

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life
(years)
6.46
6.99
3.64
1.09
3.13
2.76
5.30

During 2014, the Company granted 1,085,000 options which have a total fair value of CAD$1.94 million and a weighted average grantdate fair value of CAD$1.79 per option. The options have been valued using the Black-Scholes options pricing model, with the following
weighted average assumptions:
Average risk free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividends

1.60%
5.0 years
84.8%
–

Warrants
In conjunction with the 6,785,000 share issue on June 27, 2014, (note 12), the company issued 339,250 warrants that are exercisable at
a price of $2.57 per share until December 27, 2015. At the date of issue the estimated fair value of the warrants was CAD$239,014. Fair
value of the warrants has been determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model.
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13.

Contributed surplus (continued)
The following assumptions have been used for the Black Scholes option pricing model:
Average risk free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividends

1.00 %
1.5 years
49 %
–

The Company’s warrants at December 31, 2014 and changes for the period are as follows:
Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CAD$)

Number of
warrants
outstanding
December 31, 2012
Issued
Exercised
Expired
December 31, 2013
Issued
Exercised
December 31, 2014

1,575,000
661,250
(425,687)
(950,000)
860,563
339,250
(235,563)
964,250

$4.52
$1.31
$1.31
$6.50
$1.45
$2.57
$1.31
$1.88

At December 31, 2014, the following warrants are outstanding and exercisable:

Number of
warrants
outstanding and
exercisable
500,000
125,000
339,250
964,250
14.

Expiry date
November 17, 2015
November 19, 2015
December 27, 2015

Weighted
average
exercise price
(CAD$)

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life
(years)

$1.50
$1.50
$2.57
$1.88

0.88
0.88
0.99
0.92

Non-controlling interest
The Company holds an 88% interest in the Orca Sand and Gravel Limited Partnership (“Orca”) formed to develop the Orca quarry, with
the remaining 12% interest held by the Namgis First Nation. The address and principal place of business for Orca is P.O. 699, #6505
Island Highway, Port McNeill, BC, Canada. Non-controlling interest consists of the minority interest’s share of the equity in the partnership
offset by the capital contributions loaned to the minority interest by the Company, with the balance of its interest as follows:
(in thousands)

$

Balance - December 31, 2012

3,690

Non-controlling interest share of net loss

427

Non-controlling interest share of other comprehensive income

172

Balance - December 31, 2013

4,289

Non-controlling interest share of net loss

274

Non-controlling interest share of other comprehensive income

212

Balance - December 31, 2014

4,775

At the request of the Namgis and in order to enable the Namgis to make their required equity contributions to the partnership once a
construction decision was made, the Company advanced a total of $8,032,337 during the period from 2006 to 2007, at interest rates
reflective of the equity nature of the loans. The Company’s sole recourse for repayment is to the distributions receivable by the Namgis
from the partnership, after repayment of any approved third party who has loaned the Namgis funds for equity contributions. Reflective
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14.

Non-controlling interest (continued)
of the equity nature of the funding, the balance of the loans offset the minority interest’s share of equity. Due to the uncertainty associated
with the recoverability, the Company has never recognized corresponding interest of $3,526,446 on the Namgis loans.
The loans to the Namgis were restructured during the year ended December 31, 2009 and included; a suspension of interest until the
Company’s volumes substantially increase, reduced interest rates upon recommencement of interest being charged, repayment of the
loans are permitted at any time, and upon achieving positive cash flow in Orca Sand and Gravel Limited Partnership the Namgis may
elect that up to one-half of the amount to which they are entitled under the partnership agreement be paid in cash.
Orca owns the quarry assets which are separately disclosed in Note 7. In addition, the environmental restoration provision disclosed in
Note 11, relates to the quarrying assets owned by Orca. The majority of sales made by Orca to the Company’s subsidiary Eagle Rock
Aggregates utilize a transfer price set independently by the Canada Revenue Agency under an advanced transfer price ruling. Orca’s net
loss for 2014 was $2,468,942.
The following table summarizes select Orca financial information for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

(in thousands)
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Revenue
Profit (loss)
Total comprehensive income
15.

December 31,
2013

CAD$

CAD$

18,811
52,583
43,616
4,728
19,179
2,469
2,469

7,906
53,967
32,538
3,905
15,274
3,507
3,507

2014

2013

$

$

Expenses by nature

(in thousands)
Cost of materials and consumables
Change in inventories
Salaries, wages, and employee benefits
Share based employee benefits
Amortization, depletion and depreciation
Distribution costs
Royalties and through-put
Utilities and rental payments
Professional and consulting fees
Operations support
Other
Total cost of goods sold, sales costs, general expenses, and administrative costs

16.

December 31,
2014

4,962
100
6,950
1,470
4,457
23,467
4,385
2,249
1,165
1,240
174
50,619

6,645
(3)
6,376
900
4,495
23,029
4,251
2,266
815
1,330
129
50,233

Finance expense

(in thousands)
Interest on debt
Amortization of discount
Accretion of restoration provision

2014

2013

$

$

125
85
210
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17.

Compensation of key management
Key management personnel include the members of the Board of Directors and the Senior leadership team. Compensation for key
management personnel (including directors) was as follows:

(in thousands)
Salaries and other benefits
Share based benefits

18.

2014
$

2013
$

1,602
1,267
2,869

1,524
711
2,235

Income taxes
Income tax expense differs from the amount that would result from applying statutory income tax rates to the loss before provision for
income taxes due to the following:

(in thousands)
Loss before income taxes
Combined federal and provincial income tax rates
Income tax recovery based on the above rates
Non-deductible expenses
Difference in foreign tax rates
Future tax benefit to the non-controlling interest
Foreign exchange and other items
Amounts provided for in prior years
Income tax benefits not previously recognized
Income tax benefits not recognized
Income tax expense
Represented by:
Current income tax expense
Future income tax expense

2014
$

2013
$

(6,944)
26.00%
(1,806)

(8,595)
25.75%
(2,213)

410
(253)
56
15
1,593
15

237
(44)
15
69
7
1,945
16

15
15

16
16

The combined federal and provincial income tax rates increased due to an increase in income tax rates in Canada.
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
The components of the Company’s net unrecognized tax asset (liability) are as follows:

(in thousands)
Non-capital losses
Property, plant and equipment
Asset retirement obligation
Share issuance costs
Capital leases
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains) losses
Capital losses
Other
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December 31,
2014
$

December 31,
2013
$

20,020
12,273
835
387
334
(721)
348
33,476

21,152
12,424
732
256
307
745
406
36,022
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18.

Income taxes (continued)
The majority of the unrecognized deferred tax assets, other than non-capital losses, have no expiry date.
As at December 31, 2014 the Company has tax losses for income tax purposes in Canada and the United States which may be used to
reduce future taxable income. The income tax benefit, if any, of these losses have not been recorded in these consolidated financial
statements because of the uncertainty of their recovery. A portion of the losses in the US are subject to limitation. The future expiration
dates are as follows:
(in thousands)
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034

Capital losses, no expiry date
19.

Canada
$

United States
$

Total
$

161
4,887
2,874
10,302
10,275
15,693
6,591
4,168
2,303
2,193
59,447

5
20
391
998
4
2,478
1,595
3,903
987
187
10,568

5
20
391
1,159
4,891
2,874
12,780
10,275
15,693
8,186
8,071
3,290
2,380
70,015

2,680

2,680

Supplemental cash flow information

(in thousands)

2014

2013

$

$

Changes in non-cash working capital items
Trade and other receivables

(2,162)

Current tax assets

292

Inventories

(111)

Other current assets
Trade and other payables

(1,425)
410
1,485

(78)

(206)

(704)

(774)

(2,763)

(510)

Taxes paid
Taxes paid

20.

23

18

Related party transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company accrued for or paid the following services by related parties. Proconsult UK
Ltd. (“Proconsult”), a company controlled by David Singleton, provided to the Company, management and marketing services at a cost of
$151,783 (year ended December 31, 2013 - $292,917). The Company had an agreement to pay Proconsult a retainer of $14,500 per
month plus expenses until June 30, 2014, at which time the agreement expired. Navigator Management Ltd. (“Navigator”), a company
controlled by Marco Romero, provided to the Company, consulting services at a cost of CAD$42,165 (year ended December 31, 2013 –
CAD$42,055). The Company has agreed to pay Navigator a retainer of CAD$3,000 per month plus expenses under the agreement.
Martineau & Associates (“Martineau”), a company controlled by Eugene Martineau, provided to the Company commercial and marketing
services at a cost of $13,500 (year ended December 31, 2013 – nil). The Company has agreed to pay Martineau a fee of $1,500 per day
plus expenses under the agreement.
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20.

Related party transactions (continued)
These costs are included in general and administrative expenses. Transactions with related parties are recorded at the price agreed
between the parties.
At December 31, 2014, accounts payable included; $6,425 due to Proconsult, (December 31, 2013 - $19,252) and CAD$3,764 due to
Navigator, (December 31, 2013 – CAD$3,850).

21.

Commitments and contingencies
Shipping Tonnage
The Company has a Contract of Affreightment (“NCoA”) which is effective from January 1, 2010 with a term of 20 years. The NCoA
requires the Company to ship minimum tonnages per year. On December 19, 2013 the Company and its exclusive shipper, executed an
amendment to NCoA that set the annual minimum tonnage at 2,979,000 short tons for each remaining year of the contract. The Company
has the option in any given year to increase or decrease the annual commitment by 10% without penalty. Failure by the Company to ship
its annual cargo commitment will result in a dead-freight charge equal to 75% of the freight rate for the unshipped tons. Minimum freight
volume penalties are payable annually in the year in which freight volumes do not meet the minimum volume requirements in the NCoA.
No penalties were paid by the Company in respect of the 2014 contract year.
Operating and through-put agreements
The following minimum payments are required under operating leases, rent, equipment rentals, car leases, and aggregate through-put
commitments as at December 31, 2014:
(in thousands)
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter

$
2,178
2,155
2,196
2,195
2,248
8,525
19,497

The Company has a 20 year ground lease with an option for two ten-year extensions and a 20 year facilities use agreement with an option
for one ten-year extension, the regular term of both ending January 2028, for the site of the Richmond Terminal. Base rent and throughput charges based on minimum aggregate volumes purchased and/or sold through the Richmond Terminal, are payable in monthly
payments. Additionally, the Company has a lease for an 8.3 acre site on Berth D-44 in the Port of Long Beach, California, with an initial
term of five years and three additional five-year extension options, exercisable by the Company, which would extend the tenure to June
30, 2030.
Cemex strategic alliance
The Company has a long-term alliance with Cemex, an international construction materials company. The alliance consists of a strategic
alliance agreement, a supply and distribution agreement, joint cooperation and development agreements and a standstill agreement.
The ten year strategic alliance agreement, entered into in September 2007, sets out the exclusivity between the Company and Cemex for
the purchase and distribution of marine supplied construction aggregates, sand, gravel and crushed rock, on the west coast of the United
States along with terms for new terminal and quarry development related to those products. An alliance committee, comprised of two
members from each company, oversees the ongoing operations of the alliance. The agreement has an option to be extended for additional
ten-year terms upon mutual agreement by the Company and Cemex.
The twenty year supply and distribution agreement for marine transported construction aggregates, entered into in September 2007,
provides for Cemex to be the exclusive marketer of the Company’s sand and gravel and for the Company to be the exclusive supplier to
Cemex for its own internal use and for sales to third parties in northern California (excluding the counties of Marin, Sonoma, Mendocino
and Napa). The agreement provides for a market pricing mechanism which is adjusted annually. It also provides for annual minimum
tonnage purchase and supply commitments; however, previous minimum tonnage commitments are no longer being applied, with supply
commitments being negotiated annually. This agreement automatically renews for two ten-year periods, subject to not exceeding the life
of the Orca Quarry and a five-year termination notice.
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21.

Commitments and contingencies (continued)
The ten year joint cooperation and development agreements, entered into in September 2007, provide a mechanism through which the
Company and Cemex will work together to pursue and develop new construction aggregate marine receiving terminals in Washington,
Oregon and California (except for the counties of Marin, Sonoma, Mendocino and Napa). A development committee, comprised of two
members from each company, will use their best efforts to identify terminals opportunities that are acceptable to both companies. Each
new terminal development will be entered into contemporaneously with a supply and distribution agreement which sets out the exclusive
area served by that terminal. In the event that either party does not wish to pursue a proposed terminal development, the proposing
party is free to pursue the development of that terminal unencumbered, but with the loss of exclusivity for supply or distribution, as the
case may be, related to the area served by that terminal. The agreement has an option to be extended for additional ten-year terms
upon mutual agreement by the Company and Cemex.
Shamrock Materials Inc. supply agreement
In October 2005, the Company, through its subsidiary, Eagle Rock Aggregates Inc., entered into a long-term, twenty year, aggregates
supply agreement (“ASA”) with Shamrock Materials Inc. (“Shamrock”), a well-established construction aggregates consumer located in
the San Francisco Bay area. The ASA may be further extended by three 5 year periods, at the option of Shamrock. The ASA has granted
Shamrock the exclusive right to promote, market, resell and distribute sand and gravel within a defined territory (the counties of Marin,
Sonoma, Mendocino and Napa). In return, the Company has the right to be the exclusive provider of imported sand and gravel to
Shamrock within the same territory. The ASA provides for the purchase and supply of minimum annual volumes of sand and gravel from
the Orca Quarry for distribution within the defined area in San Francisco Bay. However, previous minimum tonnage commitments are no
longer being applied, with supply commitments being negotiated annually. Prices for the supply of sand and gravel pursuant to the ASA
will be reviewed on an annual basis and adjusted to accommodate variations in the costs and changes in market prices for similar products
within the defined area. Any adjustments based on changes to market prices will be shared by Shamrock and the Company according to
an agreed formula. The ASA delivery schedules contemplate that a portion of a fully-laden vessel will be discharged into Shamrock’s
barges at anchorage, and the balance discharged and sold at the Company’s Richmond Terminal and at Cemex’s existing land-based
discharge terminals.
Royalties
The Company pays combined royalties of CAD$1.25 per metric tonne (2013 – CAD$1.25) based on the tonnage of sand and gravel sold.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, an expense of CAD$ 3,896,721 (2013 – CAD$3,760,885) was recorded in respect of royalties.
The Company has a guarantee of CAD$100,000 against the payment of royalties.
Royalty Assessment
The Company is disputing a royalty assessment for 2012 and 2013. During the first quarter of 2014, the Company’s subsidiary Eagle
Rock Materials Ltd. was notified by the British Columbia Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations that royalties were
due of CAD$456,000 for 2012 and CAD$496,000 for 2013, based on the tenure date, in respect of the Company’s quarrying lease for the
Eagle Rock Quarry project. The Company’s position is that royalties are only payable based on actual production, in accordance with a
written undertaking from the responsible government agency prior to commencement of the lease, and as the project has not been
developed, no royalties are currently due. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded a provision for the royalties.
Community Benefit Fund
In accordance with the Impact and Benefits Agreement (“the Agreement”) established with the Namgis First Nation (“the Namgis”), part
owner of the Orca Quarry, the Company was obliged, within five years of commencement of operations, to make contributions of CAD$0.06
per metric tonne to a foundation dedicated to the development of the communities specified in the Agreement. Currently, the Namgis are
in the process of establishing the financial structures and governance practices of the foundation. Based on existing discussions with the
Namgis a foundation or similar entity will be established within the next year. Therefore the Company has recorded a provision, based on
tonnes sold by Orca from and after the date of commencement of contributions (March 2012), of CAD$472,000 which has been classified
as a current liability.
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22.

Segment reporting
The Company operates in one segment: the development and operation of construction aggregates properties and projects located in
western North America. The Company’s sales were to two customers in Canada and four customers in the United States of America
comprising 100% of the Company’s sales.
The customers with significant sales are as follows:
(in thousands)
Customer A
Customer B
Customer C

2014
$
31,162
6,249
5,995

2013
$
29,413
8,396
4,932

2014
$
45,135
106
45,241

2013
$
44,582
311
44,893

December 31,
2014
$
24,807
34,620
59,427

December 31,
2013
$
21,671
38,983
60,654

Sales by geographic area are as follows:
(in thousands)
United States
Canada

Property, plant and equipment by geographic area are as follows:

(in thousands)
United States
Canada

23.

Capital management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the entity's ability to continue as a going concern in order to continue
development of its aggregates and port terminal properties and to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital
at an acceptable risk level.
The Company considers its share capital, contributed surplus, accumulated other comprehensive income, and deficit as capital.
The Company manages its capital structure in order to ensure sufficient resources are available to meet day to day operating requirements
and to have the financial ability to grow its operations through terminal and quarry development. Methods used by the Company to
manage its capital, taking into consideration changes in economic conditions, include issuing new share capital or obtaining debt financing.
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

24.

Financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments are as follows:
December 31, 2014
Carrying
amount
Fair value
$
$

(in thousands)
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (note 4)
Security deposits (note 6)
Other long-term receivables (note 6)

14,231
6,118
973
-
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14,231
6,118
973
-

December 31, 2013
Carrying
amount
Fair value
$
$
9,385
3,943
1,059
131

9,385
3,943
1,059
131
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24.

Financial instruments (continued)
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and security deposits, approximate their carrying values due
to their short-term maturities.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss due to a customer or other third party failing to discharge their obligation due to
the Company. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents consists of demand deposit accounts with major banks in Canada and the USA
as well as Canadian government treasury bills. The Company has four significant customers, three of which at December 31, 2014
comprise 100% (2013 – four customers comprise 100%) of trade receivables. The Company’s largest customer is one of the world’s
largest international construction materials companies and the remaining customers are significant construction materials companies
within their markets of San Francisco and Hawaii.
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is comprised of the following:
2014
$

(in thousands)
Demand deposits
Trade and other receivables
Security deposits
Other long-term receivables

2013
$

9,067
6,118
973
-

9,385
3,943
1,059
131

16,158

14,518

At December 31, 2014, no allowance for credit losses has been recorded against accounts receivable. No collateral or other form of
security is held in respect of the amounts that comprise the Company’s exposure to credit risk.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Company
manages its liquidity risk by continuing to seek sources of financing at appropriate costs of capital.
A maturity analysis of the undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2014 is as follows:

(in thousands)
Trade and other payables
Finance leases

Within 1
year
$

Between 1
– 2 years
$

Between 2
– 3 years
$

Between 3
– 4 years
$

Between 4
– 5 years
$

Over 5
years
$

3,640
418

311

284

270

-

-

4,058

311

284

270

-

-

Market Risks
Foreign currency risk
The Company reports in US dollars while operating in both the United States and Canada. The Canadian operations use the Canadian
dollar as their functional currency while the US operations have a US dollar functional currency. As a result, the Company is exposed to
foreign currency gains and or losses affecting net income and cumulative translation adjustments which affect other comprehensive
income. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
For the year ended December 31, 2014 a $0.01 change in the US/Canadian exchange rate, assuming all other variables did not change,
would affect net gain/(loss) by $210,000.
Interest rate risk
The Company’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the interest received on demand deposit accounts which are at floating rates.
For the year ended December 31, 2014 a 100 basis point change in interest rates, assuming all other variables did not change, would
affect annual interest income by $140,000.
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